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Built by Abraham Lincoln and his father in 1831, in Coles County, Illinois
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The first photograph of Abraham Lincoln, 1846 or 1847.
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For Claire Stone Blumenthal Miller


“All that I am or ever hope to be, I owe to my angel mother.”

Abraham Lincoln



TIMELINE OF MAJOR EVENTS
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February 12, 1809: Birth of Abraham Lincoln

December 1811: The Lincoln family moves from Kentucky to Indiana

October 5, 1818: Death of Lincoln’s mother, Nancy Hanks Lincoln

December 2, 1819: Marriage of Thomas Lincoln, Lincoln’s father, to Sarah Bush Johnston

August 5, 1822: Edward Coles elected governor of Illinois, goes on to defeat efforts to legalize slavery in the state

January 20, 1828: Sarah Lincoln Grigsby, Lincoln’s sister, dies in childbirth

December 1828: Lincoln, on a flatboat trip down the Mississippi River, arrives in New Orleans where he is angered by the sights of slavery

March 1830: The Lincoln family moves to Illinois

July 1831: Lincoln settles in New Salem as a clerk in Denton Offutt’s store

April 1832: Lincoln enlists to fight in the Black Hawk War

August 6, 1832: Lincoln loses his first election for the state legislature

December 10, 1832: President Andrew Jackson issues his Proclamation Against Nullification

April 1833: The Berry & Lincoln general store fails, leaving Lincoln in debt

August 4, 1834: Lincoln is elected to the state legislature

August 25, 1835: Lincoln’s fiancée, Ann Rutledge, dies

January 20, 1836: Lincoln proposes a bill in the Illinois legislature for emancipation in the District of Columbia

May 25, 1836: John Quincy Adams launches the fight against the Gag Rule

September 9, 1836: Lincoln receives his license to practice law

November 1836: Stephen A. Douglas elected to the state legislature

March 4, 1837: Martin Van Buren inaugurated as president

April 15, 1837: Lincoln moves to Springfield, becomes the law partner of John Todd Stuart

November 7, 1837: Elijah Lovejoy murdered

January 27, 1838: Lincoln delivers his Lyceum address denouncing Lovejoy’s killing

November 7, 1838: William H. Seward elected governor of New York

April 4, 1841: President William Henry Harrison dies; John Tyler becomes president

September 22, 1842: Lincoln’s duel with James Shields aborted

November 4, 1842: Lincoln marries Mary Todd

August 1, 1843: Robert Todd Lincoln born

August 7, 1843: Illinois Supreme Court justice Stephen A. Douglas elected to the U.S. House of Representatives

June 27, 1844: Mormon Prophet Joseph Smith murdered ending the Illinois Mormon War

November 5, 1844: James K. Polk defeats Henry Clay for president

December 1844: Lincoln sets up his own law office with William H. Herndon as partner

March 10, 1846: Edward Baker Lincoln born

May 13, 1846: Mexican War declared

August 3, 1846: Lincoln elected to the U.S. House of Representatives

December 13, 1846: Stephen A. Douglas elected to the U.S. Senate

January 22, 1847: Lincoln delivers floor speech after introducing his “Spot Resolution” demanding to know exactly where the Mexican War began

April 15, 1848: Seventy-seven slaves in Washington attempt to escape on a boat called the Pearl

September 22, 1848: Lincoln campaigns for the Whig Party and Zachary Taylor in Boston with William H. Seward

December 1848: Lincoln authors a bill for emancipation in the District of Columbia that fails to win support and he does not introduce

February 22, 1849: Salmon P. Chase elected to the U.S. Senate

March 31, 1849: Lincoln leaves Washington after failing to secure a patronage position, returns to Springfield and will not come back to the capital until twelve years later as president-elect

February 1, 1850: Edward Baker Lincoln dies



CAST OF MAJOR CHARACTERS


[image: Images]

FAMILY

Thomas Lincoln, Father

Nancy Hanks Lincoln, Mother

Sarah Lincoln, Sister

Sarah Bush Johnston Lincoln, Stepmother

Mary Todd, Wife

Ninian W. Edwards, Brother-in-law, son of the first governor of Illinois

Elizabeth Todd Edwards, Sister-in-law

Robert Smith Todd, Mary Todd’s father

ILLINOIS

Jack Armstrong, Clary’s Grove Boys leader

Edward D. Baker, Illinois legislator, congressman

Justin Butterfield, Chicago lawyer, Whig politician

John Calhoun, Lincoln’s supervisor as surveyor, Democratic politician

Peter Cartwright, Preacher and Democratic politician, Lincoln’s congressional opponent

Edward Coles, Thomas Jefferson’s protégé, James Madison’s private secretary, governor of Illinois

David Davis, Illinois legislator, judge, Whig Party stalwart

Stephen A. Douglas, Illinois legislator, judge, congressman, senator

Thomas Ford, Governor of Illinois during the Mormon War

Simeon Francis, Editor, Sangamo Journal

Mentor Graham, New Salem schoolteacher

John J. Hardin, Illinois legislator, congressman, Mary Todd’s cousin

Dr. Anson Henry, Whig partisan, Lincoln’s doctor

William H. Herndon, Lincoln’s law partner

Usher F. Linder, Illinois legislator, attorney general, lawyer

Stephen Trigg Logan, Lincoln’s second law partner

Denton Offutt, Lincoln’s first employer, store owner, and horse whisperer

James Shields, Illinois legislator, U.S. senator, Douglas’s ally

Joseph Smith, Mormon Prophet

Joshua Speed, Lincoln’s Springfield roommate

John Todd Stuart, Lincoln’s early political mentor in the legislature and first law partner

NATIONAL POLITICS

Thomas Hart Benton, Senator from Missouri

Francis Preston Blair, Editor, Washington Globe, Democratic political adviser

John C. Calhoun, Congressman, secretary of war, vice president, secretary of state, senator from South Carolina

Henry C. Carey, Pennsylvania businessman, political economist

Henry Clay, Speaker of the House, secretary of state, senator from Kentucky

Jefferson Davis, Senator from Mississippi

Horace Greeley, Editor, New York Tribune

Henry J. Raymond, Editor, New York Times, lieutenant governor of New York

Winfield Scott, General of the Army

William H. Seward, Governor of New York, senator

Alexander Stephens, Congressman from Georgia

Nicholas Trist, Diplomat, negotiator of the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo

Daniel Webster, Congressman, senator from Massachusetts, secretary of state

Thurlow Weed, Editor, the Albany Evening Journal, Whig Party political leader

ABOLITIONISTS AND ANTISLAVERY ADVOCATES

Gamaliel Bailey, Editor, The National Era newspaper in Washington

James G. Birney, Liberty Party presidential candidate

Salmon P. Chase, Liberty Party and Free Soil leader, senator from Ohio

William Lloyd Garrison, Editor, The Liberator

Joshua Giddings, Congressman from Ohio, Lincoln’s boardinghouse mate

John P. Hale, Congressman, senator from New Hampshire

Elijah Lovejoy, Minister, editor, Alton Observer

Owen Lovejoy, Brother of Elijah Lovejoy, Illinois legislator, Republican Party founder

Horace Mann, Congressman from Massachusetts

John G. Palfrey, Conscience Whig congressman

Theodore Parker, Boston Unitarian minister

Charles Sumner, Conscience Whig leader, senator from Massachusetts

Theodore Weld, Anti-Slavery Society editor and orator; assistant to John Quincy Adams

PRESIDENTS

James Madison, 4th President

James Monroe, 5th President

John Quincy Adams, 6th President, congressman from Massachusetts

Andrew Jackson, 7th President

Martin Van Buren, 8th President, Free Soil Party candidate

William Henry Harrison, 9th President

John Tyler, 10th President

James K. Polk, 11th President

Zachary Taylor, 12th President

Millard Fillmore, 13th President

Franklin Pierce, 14th President

James Buchanan, 15th President



PROLOGUE


THE SLAVE
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“I used to be a slave.”

The first time Abraham Lincoln spoke openly about his origins was the year he assumed his new identity as a Republican. Until then he had been remarkably reticent about the facts of his personal life. He was one of the best-known political figures in Illinois, yet he kept an essential part of himself mysterious. By 1856 he had been a professional politician on public view for twenty-four years, more than half his lifetime a stalwart member of the Whig Party, and it was as a Whig that he had climbed rapidly in its ranks. At the age of twenty-seven he was elected to his second term in the legislature and his peers chose him as the Whig floor leader. He was dubbed the “Sangamon chieftain,” head of the so-called Springfield Junto that directed the state party and de facto coeditor of the leading Whig newspaper, the Sangamo (later the Illinois) Journal, writing many of its editorials anonymously. He was the manager of Whig presidential campaigns in the state and a presidential elector to the Electoral College. He was the prime mover behind installing the convention system that selected candidates, enforcing party discipline, and using that system to drive out a competitor and make himself congressman. He had always campaigned on the Whig platform for economic development: internal improvements—federal and state financing of massive infrastructure projects—and the tariff to protect and encourage manufactures. He emphasized that he was one of “the people,” not “the aristocracy,” and felt hurt that he was once accused of being part of the upper class because of his marriage to Mary Todd, who belonged to the Edwards-Todd family, the most distinguished in Springfield, living on Aristocracy Hill. Projecting himself as a self-made man, he believed himself to be and wanted to be seen as rising from the common clay. He was also determined to leave his past behind, even to bury it, as if hiding his humiliation. His impulse was to protect himself from revelations about his origins. As for the actual details of his early existence, he had been stone silent.

By 1856 he was out of office for the biblical length of seven years since his obscure one-term congressional term, wandering on a horse named Bob from county courthouse to courthouse in the Eighth Judicial District of Illinois. While he sharpened his skills as a lawyer before juries and read Euclid late into the night to deepen his understanding of logical argumentation, he also unsuspectingly gathered around him the network of political men who would help lift him to the presidency, his team of loyalists. In the meantime, the party of his lifelong attachment shattered. This shipwreck, leaving him adrift as a political Ishmael, was his miraculous chance. His political career had capsized before his party went under, but he discovered himself suddenly afloat.

Emerging from the Whig crack-up, which he observed from a distance like a great natural disaster, he was a more mature man who had absorbed the experience of his wilderness years. “It is a fact that Mr. Lincoln was a peculiar man, a wonderful, marvelous, and mysterious man to the world generally,” recalled William Henry Herndon, his law partner. On the one hand, “He was a marginal man, always leaving a blank on his paper, so that the future might write the future lessons thereon.” On the other hand, “Lincoln’s man”—Lincoln’s own platonic ideal—“was purely logical, and he followed his conclusions to the ultimate end, though the world perished.” He seemed paradoxical, but was of a piece. “While I say that Mr. Lincoln was ambitious, secretive, and somewhat selfish, do not infer from these words that he was a dishonest man, nor an insincere man, nor a hypocrite, nor a mean man, nor a base man. He was, on the contrary, full of honesty, integrity, sincerity; open, fair, and candid when speaking or acting. He was for Lincoln always, but with Lincoln’s intense honesty.” He learned the political values of time and patience, but often aroused criticism that he was too slow or too fast, vacillating or rash, on everything from the Emancipation Proclamation to military strategy. “He was self-reliant, self-poised, self-helping, and self-assertive, but not dogmatic by any means. He clung like gravity to his own opinions. He was the most continuous and severest thinker in America.” But he was not always this way, not in the beginning, and it took decades for Lincoln to develop and realize his self-conception as “Lincoln’s man.”

Lincoln’s phoenix-like ascent was made possible in constant friction with Stephen A. Douglas. From his earliest days until the presidency Lincoln measured himself against his rival and obsessive object of envy, the “Little Giant,” flying toward the sun far above him, the most influential figure in Illinois, a power in the Senate, presidential hopeful, and wealthy from his real estate investments in Chicago and a Mississippi plantation. For nearly a quarter century, long before they would face off for the U.S. Senate in 1858, Lincoln and Douglas were fierce combatants in a contest that began with street brawls and a knife fight between their partisans in the muddy streets of Springfield. Douglas had already tried once, in 1852, to gain the Democratic presidential nomination, and he would try again and again. If any man from Illinois would be president, it was Douglas. Lincoln’s forward movement was always in pursuit of Douglas.

It was at one of those campaign events that the man who had been extraordinarily reluctant about discussing his past, sensitive about his social inferiority, blurted out a startling confession. “I used to be a slave,” said Lincoln. He did not explain what prompted him to make this incredible statement, why he branded himself as belonging to the most oppressed, stigmatized, and untouchable caste, far worse than being accused of being an abolitionist. Illinois, while a free state, had a draconian Black Code. Why would Lincoln announce that he was a former “slave”? The bare facts he did not disclose to his audience were these: Until he was twenty-one years old, Lincoln’s father had rented him out to neighbors in rural Indiana at a price of ten to thirty-one cents a day, to labor as a rail splitter, farmhand, hog butcher, and ferry operator. The father collected the son’s wages. Lincoln was in effect an indentured servant, a slave. He regarded his semiliterate father as domineering and himself without rights. Thomas Lincoln, who had led a harsh and unfair life, wanted his son to learn an honest trade as a laborer, perhaps trained as a carpenter like himself, considered formal education a waste of time, and sought to suppress any larger ambition as useless dreaminess. It was only when the self-made man finally identified himself as a Republican that he felt free to reveal himself as “a slave.” And then Lincoln completed his story, “And now I am so free that they let me practice law.”

Lincoln’s wry humor drove home his point about his getaway, but masked the scar. Calling himself “a slave” was not a slip of the tongue, hyperbole, or metaphor. It was not just another of his funny stories, though he made it into a joke. He truly considered himself to have been held in bondage and escaped. Lincoln rarely if ever talked about his feelings, even to his closest friends, who tried to discern the signs. He hid his depths behind his simplicity. His authenticity was not deceptive but a veneer nonetheless. “He was simple in his dress, manners, simple in his approach and his presence,” recalled Herndon. “Though this be true, he was a man of quite infinite silences and was thoroughly and deeply secretive, uncommunicative, and close-minded as to his plans, wishes, hopes, and fears. . . . I venture to say that he never wholly opened himself to mortal creature.” It was no wonder. His captivity as a boy, he felt, was humiliating and degrading, imprisonment in a world of neglect, poverty, fecklessness, and ignorance. It was at the root of his fierce desire to rise. If he was angry with his father, he also knew that his father had been reduced to a dirt farmer and compelled to flee Kentucky to escape from slavery. “Slave States are places for poor white people to remove FROM; not to remove TO,” Lincoln said in 1854 in opposition to Douglas’s Nebraska Act. “New free States are the places for poor people to go to and better their condition.” Lincoln had been oppressed by a man who himself was oppressed. By crossing the Ohio River into Indiana, his father had made his own escape. Lincoln was a fugitive’s son—and a fugitive himself.

Even more startling than Lincoln’s self-description as chattel was his subsequent self-identification as a particular kind of slave—a fugitive slave, a runaway. In one of only two brief autobiographical interviews he ever granted, this one intended for circulation in support of his Senate candidacy in 1858, and given to his friend Jesse W. Fell, an Illinois lawyer and businessman who had advised him to challenge Douglas to debate, Lincoln offered this physical description of himself: “If any personal description of me is thought desirable, it may be said, I am, in height, six feet, four inches, nearly; lean in flesh, weighing on an average one hundred and eighty pounds; dark complexion, with coarse black hair, and grey eyes—no other marks or brands recollected.” Many, perhaps even at the time, might have missed Lincoln’s allusion at the end of his seemingly bland self-portrayal, though the politician and lawyer who had learned to wield words with surgical precision certainly knew his own intent and had undoubtedly ruminated on it. “No other marks or brands recollected” was not another of his amusing jokes, but the exact language slave owners used to describe runaway slaves in newspaper ads. Lincoln had therefore identified himself not only as one of the fugitives but also mocked their owners. This was more than sympathetic projection; he believed he had his own fugitive experience and emancipated himself. He was an oppressed and stunted boy who achieved his freedom. If, with his disadvantages, he could do it, it could be done.

When he became a Republican and identified himself as “a slave,” he had begun emerging as the Abraham Lincoln identifiable in history. Four years later, at the Illinois state Republican convention nominating him for president, he would be given another identity, the “Rail Splitter,” the legendary ax-wielding laborer, common man of the people, establishing one of the most enduring icons in American history, though to the private Lincoln, who chuckled at the contrived image making by party handlers, it was a picture of himself from the time when he thought of himself as “a slave.” Like other runaways, he had remade his identity and never took it for granted.

Despite his standing for years among the Illinois Whigs, few people spotted him for greater things other than as a provincial figure except perhaps his wife. When a Sangamon County abolitionist, Samuel Willard, and his father were indicted for helping a fugitive slave escape in 1843 and sought an attorney, another conductor of the Springfield area Underground Railroad, Luther Ransom, advised, “There’s Lincoln; he always helps me when I call upon him for a man that is arrested as a runaway. He is too little known; you want one that is popular and has made a name.” “And so,” recalled Willard, “we failed to employ Lincoln and make acquaintance with him.” But he stumbled across him in the courthouse, a “gaunt-faced, awkward, long-limbed man, who took a law book from a case and sat down on a chair rather too low for him. I noticed the long leg thrown back and doubled up under the long thigh, like that of a grasshopper I wondered at his make-up. Someone called him Lincoln, and he smilingly replied. I had not heard the name before and remembered the man for his notable physical peculiarities.” Later Willard remarked that “no one could have guessed, even with the wildest imagination enlisted for the task,” at Lincoln’s future. Of the young lawyers Willard met in Springfield then, he seemed the least likely to become a national leader. “Lincoln will do for Sangamon County, or to go to Congress from this district; but if the lightning of a presidential nomination hits him, it will hit the wrong man; he has more risk of being hit by the real article.”

One of Lincoln’s fellow boardinghouse mates from his congressional days, Nathan Sargent, a journalist and at the same time sergeant-at-arms of the House of Representatives, recalled that none of those who knew him imagined great things for the backbencher. “A future President was a member of that House, yet no one surmised the fact, and perhaps the last one to suspect such a thing was the individual himself. . . . He was genial and liked; but no one would have pointed him out as the future President, if called upon to select the man who was to be from among the members. Nor do I believe that he, if told to point out the future President then in that body, would have thought it possible that the lot was to fall to him.”

Lincoln’s marriage was indispensable to his rise, his sense of destiny, and his equilibrium. He was an almost comically awkward suitor who had a nervous breakdown over his inability to deal with the opposite sex. One socially superior woman to whom he proposed rejected him for having the manners of a bumpkin. Mary Todd, daughter of Henry Clay’s business partner and political ally, from Lexington, Kentucky, was a rare woman of the Southern upper class who loved politics, and was described as a child as “a violent little Whig.” She did not hesitate to offer her strong opinions at a time when women were supposed to remain silent and deferential on the subject. If anything, she was more ambitious for her ambitious husband than he was. His alliance with her gave him more than the social standing he desired. She steadied him, pushed him forward, defended him, and never lost faith in his star. She referred to their union as “our Lincoln party.” Mary was high-strung, threw temper tantrums, and made embarrassing scenes. But she also gave Lincoln a family, respectability, a proper home, and passionately believed in him. Herndon hated her, calling her a “she wolf,” and she would never invite him into the Lincoln home in Springfield, calling him “a dirty dog.” Lincoln’s young private secretaries John Hay and John Nicolay referred to her as the “Hellcat.” But there would have been no Lincoln without Mary, and he knew it. He remained smitten and in wonder that she had selected “a poor nobody.”

Lincoln had a deep private life about which he was reserved, but which he drew upon as a public man. His losses—the deaths of his mother, sister, and two sons—profoundly affected him. As the burden of Lincoln’s mortality grew heavier, he learned to carry on despite it. The man who had suffered breakdowns was often famously melancholy, but never alienated, though even among his closest friends he kept a distance. “I knew the man so well: he was the most reticent, secretive man I ever saw or expect to see,” recalled David Davis, the Illinois circuit court judge with whom Lincoln spent countless hours, was his campaign manager for president, and whom Lincoln appointed associate justice of the Supreme Court. Lincoln withdrew into himself, but his tragedies created reservoirs of compassion and resolution. In the darkest days of the war when nearly all around him lost heart, Ulysses Grant, his commanding general, would say, “The President has more nerve than any of his advisers.”

When he stepped onto the national stage in 1860, many of Lincoln’s contemporaries viewed him as little more than a simple provincial hack—“an uneducated man—a vulgar village politician, without any experience worth mentioning in the practical duties of statesmanship . . . this illiterate Western boor,” as James Gordon Bennett’s New York Herald put it in 1860. But they learned in time not to underestimate his political abilities. “He has proved himself, in a quiet way, the keenest of politicians, and more than a match for his wily antagonists in the arts of diplomacy,” Bennett would concede four years later. “He was the deepest, the closest, the cutest, and the most ambitious man American politics has produced,” observed Gustavus Fox, his assistant secretary of the navy. “Lincoln was a supreme politician,” wrote Charles Dana, his assistant secretary of war. “He understood politics because he understood human nature.” His timing and patience were governed by that understanding. “He never stepped too soon, and he never stepped too late.” Dana returned time and again in his memoir to Lincoln’s grasp of people. “He knew human nature; he knew what chord to strike, and was never afraid to strike it when he believed that the time had arrived.”

Before the eyes of those who dismissed him, even if they did not see it, the self-made man was constantly transforming himself through self-education and relentless political aspiration. “Politics were his Heaven, and his Hades metaphysics,” wrote Herndon. Lincoln was a new kind of man on the American scene, not just a self-made man, but the self-made man as politician, a new profession, the partisan regular in a newly competitive and disciplined two-party system. Lincoln was one of the first men in the first generation of professional politicians. He was not landed gentry, like most of the founders; nor was he successful as a merchant. In fact, he was a dismal failure as co-owner of a general store in New Salem and spent years digging out of debt. If being a successful businessman were the prerequisite for office he would have been disqualified before his first race for the state legislature. He became a lawyer to advance himself as a politician. His law practice thrived in the 1850s by taking on every sort of client and case that walked through the door, through referrals of friends and riding the circuit for nearly half the year. His great skill was before juries in central Illinois, where more often than not he knew many of them personally. He had little ability at business, did not accumulate real estate holdings like some of his affluent friends, and never achieved rank near the tier of top-flight attorneys like Edwin Stanton, who inflicted his greatest professional humiliation by refusing to let the ungainly provincial hired as a co-counsel speak at a trial involving a major corporation.

Politics was not for Lincoln a grudging necessity, as a number of the most distinguished Lincoln scholars of the twentieth century insisted. The preeminent historian of the “golden age” of Lincoln scholarship, from the 1930s through the post–World War II period, James G. Randall, established the long accepted split theme of Lincoln as political but only out of obligation, operating on an elevated plane above grubby politicians, holding party politics beneath him, and defining statesmanship and partisanship as opposites. How could the Great Emancipator be reconciled with the politician? Randall’s resolution was that Lincoln wasn’t really a politician. “It was, of course, with parties and politicians that Lincoln had to work,” he wrote. “That in so doing he kept his record clear is an achievement whose full value is not perceived. . . . It cannot be denied that Lincoln was a party man; he had to be if he wanted a political career. He worked by and through party organization; he engaged in party maneuvers; it was as party candidate that he obtained elective office. But it is also worth noting that he saw the evils of party politics and that the worst party excesses never had his approval.” This was, to put a fine and polite point on it, sheer fiction. If it were true, to begin with he never would have become president and in the end would never have enacted the Thirteenth Amendment abolishing slavery. Lincoln the politician and Lincoln the Great Emancipator were not antithetical sides of the same person or antithetical stages in the same life, but one man. If it were not for Lincoln the politician, Lincoln the Great Emancipator would never have existed.

The mythology of Lincoln as too noble for politics long obscured the reality of Lincoln. Lincoln above politics was not Lincoln. “What! This a simple-minded man?” exclaimed Herndon. “This a politically ‘innocent dear’ man? This a mere thing, without ideas and policies? Away with all such opinions!” Lincoln did not believe that politicians were unsavory creatures he felt compelled to associate with out of duty. He did not hold himself above the political give-and-take or dismiss the deal making, or “log-rolling,” as it was called, as repugnant to his higher calling. He did not see politics as the enemy of his principles or an unpleasant process that might pollute them. These notions were wholly alien to him. He never believed politics corrupted him. He always believed that politics offered the only way to achieve his principles. And he never thought of politics as separate from who he was. He discovered the promise of American life—and created the man who became Abraham Lincoln—through politics itself.

In Lincoln’s youth, partisanship evolved into the expression of commitment to American democracy after the inchoate pre-party period of the 1820s. Yet antiparty sentiment had remained even within Whig ranks as a powerful form of anti–Democratic Party feeling with an edge against popular participation. Lincoln appeared in politics at the start of a new phase. He was the partisan as democrat who gloried in two-party competition. He completely embraced party politics, the rise of political professionals like himself, and partisan organization, including partisan newspapers, as fundamental to mass involvement in politics. His idea of politics was not separate from his idea of democracy.

The historical truth reveals one of the most astute professional politicians the country has produced. For this self-made man of the nineteenth century, striving was the emblem of his political authenticity, not only central to his self-conception but self-presentation. From the moment he first ran for the state legislature, at the age of twenty-three, he never ceased to aim for higher office. He made himself into a political being to the marrow of his bones, a politician through and through. In any room he was to be found at the center of a crowd of politicians, debating issues, trading gossip, and telling jokes, some off-color. He gained a reputation as a young man as a “slasher,” who delighted to “take down” rivals, even as he was learning subtler arts to seduce or outmaneuver them. He deployed his repertoire not just to win elections, but also to guide passage of legislation, from “the System” of far-reaching internal improvements in the Illinois of 1837 to the Thirteenth Amendment. Once he reached the White House his survival and that of the nation depended upon those political arts. As a lawyer on the circuit, he studied Euclid, mastering the art of “demonstrating” a proposition. Lincoln’s presidency demonstrated the use of political acumen to advance “the proposition” he would state in the Gettysburg Address.

Lincoln’s education was hardly finished when he arrived in Washington as president, not least his education about the presidency. His experience in government had been legislative, not executive. The traditional Whig view was that the presidency should defer to the congressional leadership—the self-interested doctrine of the Whig titans and rivals in the Congress, Henry Clay and Daniel Webster, who saw themselves as the puppeteers of figurehead chief executives who were nominated for their iconic images as military heroes. Above the exalted nonpolitical presidents would supposedly lurk the political string pullers, until one or the other gained center stage, though it never worked out that way. Both Whig presidents died early in office with their successors betraying their intentions. In the case of John Tyler, a states’ rights Democrat, Clay and Webster were shunted aside. In the case of Zachary Taylor, they sought to undermine him once he asserted himself as his own man, relying upon Senator William Seward as his confidential counselor. Each still clung to the dream he would become president. But even Millard Fillmore proved less than malleable in the end. The Whig model of the presidency was nasty, brutish, and short.

For a self-described “Old Whig” who was the first Republican in the office, Lincoln had no ingrained party tradition of the executive to restore. In the secession crisis, he reached for guidance to Andrew Jackson’s Proclamation Against Nullification and with that began his swift and rough education. His battles for control over his military commanders, his struggles with his ambitious cabinet members, and his policy toward emancipation defined presidential powers. These conflicts ran parallel to each other, but the outcome of each as they played out depended on the outcome of all—and through their consequences Lincoln maneuvered his way to a new understanding of the presidency and the Constitution.

Lincoln’s words were among his greatest weapons. But his oratory, even at its most poetic, was always tactical and strategic. Deliberate, methodical, and meticulous, he crafted every line for political impact. He never spoke to hear the sound of his own high-pitched, rather shrill voice, or for the aesthetic experience of seeing his words in print. In his eulogy of Henry Clay, his early “beau ideal,” Lincoln stated his own view of speechmaking, “All his efforts were made for practical effect. He never spoke merely to be heard.” Lincoln always wanted to win. The prairie politician and forensic lawyer closely followed his adversaries’ arguments and concentrated his mental energies on turning their language and ideas against them. These rhetorical jumping jacks were inimitably Lincolnian. What he practiced before county courthouse juries he performed as a politician. His antislavery “House Divided” speech borrowed the scriptural phrase from Daniel Webster’s defense of the Fugitive Slave Act. His “new birth of freedom” in the succinct Gettysburg Address was the culmination of a series of lengthy speeches given over previous months rebutting the Copperhead and Confederate cant about “liberty.” And his argument in the Second Inaugural on how “the war came” was a point-by-point refutation of Jefferson Davis’s recent statements on its origin and meaning. The lawyer was a politician, and the politician was a lawyer.

Lincoln knew from his practical experience that great change required a thousand political acts, many small, some difficult and a few grand, beginning in the Illinois legislature field marshaling passage as the Whig floor leader of “the System” of modern infrastructure, of canals, bridges, and roads, the largest project ever to be enacted in the state, lifting it from a frontier wilderness into a commercial center. He understood that defeat could be the father of victory and that mere victory was often not the goal in itself but the means to higher ends. He knew that indirection had a direction and men often heard what they wanted to hear. He knew that little jokes could be serious and orotund orations could be jokes. His contemporaries learned that his rustic drollery was usually his cover for political subtlety. His high and low rhetoric, inspirational and banal, had its own symphonic uses.

Lincoln’s political mind and sinuous methods, however, confounded some of the most perspicacious academic historians of the late twentieth century. Richard Hofstadter, the most brilliant historian of the post-Randall generation, famously dismissed the Emancipation Proclamation as having “all the moral grandeur of a bill of lading” and no purpose “beyond its propaganda value”—his witticism ignoring the Proclamation’s thunderous impact, not least in authorizing the recruitment of black soldiers. Hofstadter was also seemingly unaware of the contradiction of his own cleverness. If Lincoln had intended the Proclamation merely as “propaganda,” why would he have been so prosaic, so lacking in demagogic rhetoric, so utterly official? David Herbert Donald, the greatest Lincoln biographer of the late twentieth century, notably asserted that Lincoln’s “basic trait of character” was his “essential passivity,” flourishing as his decisive proof and using as the frontispiece of his biography Lincoln’s statement on April 4, 1864, “I claim not to have controlled events, but confess plainly that events have controlled me.” Hofstadter, too, cited this sentence to prove that Lincoln had “turned liberator in spite of himself.” Lincoln’s statement was, in fact, from a letter composed as a result of urgent advice from his panicked supporters in slave-owning Kentucky, his worst state during his reelection campaign, as a gesture to attempt to subdue controversy over precisely his enlistment of black troops. It was, in short, politically crafted. That Lincoln would adopt workmanlike language in a government document and feint in politics did not, however, make him fundamentally unprincipled or passive. These were simply some of his methods. Ultimately, Lincoln became the master of events because he was the master of politics.

If politics was Lincoln’s “Heaven” it was also because it was his school. With less than a year of formal education in a backcountry “blab” school, reciting doggerel from memory, he gathered information from everyone he met, debating their ideas and considering their motives. He entered every legislative chamber and saloon, every political gathering and social party, every back room and courtroom as a potentially invaluable learning experience. He called them his “public opinion baths.” It was how he gained his bearings in the invisible and shifting currents of politics he would navigate. His circuit riding around Illinois was more than the peripatetic ramblings of a country lawyer. His travels on behalf of clients advanced his political network. In every town and courthouse, he made friends and allies of lawyers and judges, the nucleus of his campaigns for the Senate and the presidential nomination. He loved the relationships of politics, the fraternity, friendship, and humor. There was little he liked more, especially in the White House, than a late night conversation with a group of politicians, except perhaps a night at the theater.

Lincoln sought to know who everybody was, their histories personal and political, their public speeches and private conversations. Politics, after all, is about relationships. As a wild boy he rambled far and wide throughout the counties of central Illinois introducing himself to all sorts of people of every class and description he found interesting or could advance his intellectual inquisitiveness. He especially fixed on the most important local lawyers, all politically connected. In New Salem, he befriended every soul and converted the local gang, Clary’s Grove Boys, into his first political machine. He knew everyone, legislators and log-rollers, in Vandalia, the rickety early state capital, and everyone in Springfield down to the clerks in every minor office. As he widened his orbit as a congressman in Washington, he engaged everyone he could, from the leading abolitionist leader of the House of Representatives to the future vice president of the Confederacy.

He had devoured newspapers as a primary source for his education since he was a boy, memorizing the major speeches of the great statesmen in the Congress, avidly following every twist and turn of national debates from harbors to slavery. He closely studied the rhetoric of the greatest speakers, especially Henry Clay, his idol, and Daniel Webster, borrowing their language and adapting them into some of his most famous phrases—Webster’s “Second Reply to Hayne” for “of the people, by the people, for the people.”

After the parties disintegrated and reorganized in the Civil War, Lincoln studied each and every significant man’s odyssey, just who had been what, where, and when, their alliances and conflicts, their remarks public and private, and to whom, the gossip about them, what was true and half true, and the underlying motives for their complex political patterns over decades. He knew the great and their traces to the Jacksonian era; the good and their fierce sectarian battles against each other in the abolitionist movement; and the eccentric but influential lords of the press. Without his granular knowledge, he simply would not have thrived and survived. But he did not accumulate his encyclopedic intimate knowledge as mere necessity. He didn’t think of politics as a calling, like a revelation as might dawn on a religious figure summoned to serve, or as a businessman with an instinct for the ledger sheet of assets and debits, but as his human endeavor, his life, and ultimately inextricable from his struggle to preserve democracy.

Lincoln surrounded himself throughout his career with journalists, who were to him a species of politician, which they were. Newspapers were universally partisan organs, attached to one party or faction. He was in all but name the coeditor of the leading Whig newspaper in Springfield, the Sangamo Journal, later the Illinois Journal, and wrote hundreds of articles and editorials, most unsigned. He was the secret owner of a German language newspaper, the Illinois Staats-Anzeiger, published to promote his candidacy for the Republican nomination among German Americans. Journalism was critical to his continuing education, constantly refreshing his understanding of fast-moving events. And he enjoyed the company of journalists in the same way he enjoyed that of other politicians. They were part of the political life he loved. In many cases, there were no distinctions between newspapermen and politicians, the roles merging—Henry Jarvis Raymond, founder and editor of the New York Times, was at the same time chairman of the Republican National Committee. Lincoln received a constant stream of strident and often hysterical urgings from Horace Greeley, editor of the most influential Republican newspaper, the New York Tribune, who hated Raymond, but with whom Lincoln had been involved since he sent him political advice during the Whig campaign of 1848 and for whose correspondence he kept a separate slot marked “Greeley” in the desk of his presidential office. Throughout his presidency, Lincoln’s relationships with journalists were central to his politics. He used them to gain insight and information, sometimes from the front lines of battle before dispatches had arrived from his generals. He leaked to favored reporters, played newspaper editors against each other, and even offered the post of minister to France to “His Satanic Majesty,” James Gordon Bennett, editor of the New York Herald, a vicious critic, to help win his support for reelection. Both of his personal secretaries were journalists—John Hay and John Nicolay—and so was his assistant secretary of war, Charles A. Dana, the former managing editor of the New York Tribune, whom he used as an independent set of eyes and ears and for discreet political tasks, like evaluating his new general, Ulysses S. Grant. Lincoln advanced his ideas through his intimate journalist friends, sent them on diplomatic missions, sometimes edited their copy, and even wrote articles for august journals such as the Atlantic Monthly under their bylines. And he badgered journalists for gossip they didn’t report. But, most importantly, he saw them as part of the elaborate machinery of public opinion.

Lincoln thought of politics as both a vast theater and an intimate society. He was stagestruck from an early age. After politics, the theater and especially Shakespeare was his greatest passion. In his drama, the audience was not a random gathering of strangers. Its members were not paying customers who had come for an evening of entertainment. They were citizens, not spectators. Lincoln had a keen knowledge of who they were. Before every jury and crowd in Illinois, he could name friends and neighbors. But the rest were familiar to him as well. He grew up among them, spoke their language, and hoped to give voice to their aspirations. Standing onstage, he sensed which words connected. Nor did he make an artificial distinction between campaigning among voters and working among politicians. Politics itself was always seamless for Lincoln. Collective and individual action was of a piece, community and man inseparable. In every group of politicians and before every audience the theater of politics was his natural environment.

Lincoln was a striver who never thought of himself as an imperial individual whose rise could only occur severing the restraining ties of society. He never conceived himself above other men, holding self-regarding contempt for the rest as a mediocre mass of envious failures using government or politics as their instruments to pull down the successful. He saw individual opportunity on a coherent continuum of government, public policy, and democracy. When his original party fell apart beneath him, he imported into the Republican Party his policies on the economy as a Henry Clay Old Whig who believed in the “American System,” modernizing it to create the transcontinental railroad and land grant colleges. His destruction of the “slave power” was the culmination of his logic of a “people’s contest.”

Throughout the war, Copperheads, the Northern Peace Democrats, and Confederates flung the word “liberty” at him as the tyrannical ruler of an authoritarian government. Lincoln rebutted them in a series of speeches in 1863 and 1864 whose most memorable was the Gettysburg Address. He finally defined “liberty” directly in a speech on April 18, 1864, amidst his reelection campaign. This was the fully developed Lincoln in control of his powers cutting to the heart of the matter. “The world has never had a good definition of the word liberty, and the American people, just now, are much in want of one,” he said. “We all declare for liberty; but in using the same word we do not all mean the same thing. With some the word liberty may mean for each man to do as he pleases with himself, and the product of his labor; while with others the same word may mean for some men to do as they please with other men, and the product of other men’s labor.” He used a metaphor to illustrate how those claiming to be its defenders twisted the word “liberty”: “The shepherd drives the wolf from the sheep’s throat, for which the sheep thanks the shepherd as a liberator, while the wolf denounces him for the same act as the destroyer of liberty, especially as the sheep was a black one. Plainly the sheep and the wolf are not agreed upon a definition of the word liberty; and precisely the same difference prevails today among us human creatures, even in the North, and all professing to love liberty. Hence we behold the processes by which thousands are daily passing from under the yoke of bondage, hailed by some as the advance of liberty, and bewailed by others as the destruction of all liberty.”

Just as he would use Aesopian stories to make his points, Lincoln could also be the most humorous and entertaining man late at night in a room filled with boisterous and opinionated men talking politics and freely drinking whiskey, a drop of which he would not touch. It was in the role of droll comedian that he met his first president. When former president Martin Van Buren toured Illinois in 1842, the stalwart Whig state legislator who had viciously campaigned against him was invited as the best local raconteur to keep him laughing with his storytelling. Lincoln often used humor to illustrate his political points or subtly control the atmosphere around him, especially in the presence of serious men. His most memorable digression occurred on September 22, 1862, summoning the cabinet to the White House after the Battle of Antietam, the bloodiest so far in the war. He began reading a ridiculous story in frontier dialect entitled “Outrage in Utiky” by one of his favorite humor writers, Artemus Ward, editor of Vanity Fair. “It seemed to me like buffoonery,” recalled Secretary of War Edwin Stanton. “Having finished, he laughed heartily without a member of the Cabinet joining in the laughter. ‘Well,’ he said, ‘let’s have another chapter,’ and he read another chapter, to our great astonishment. I was considering whether I should rise and leave the meeting abruptly, when he threw his book down, heaved a long sigh, and said: ‘Gentlemen, why don’t you laugh? With the fearful strain that is upon me night and day, if I did not laugh I should die, and you need this medicine as much as I do.’ ” Then, to their further astonishment, he read them the Emancipation Proclamation. “I have always tried to be calm,” Stanton continued, “but I think I lost my calmness for a moment, and with great enthusiasm I arose, approached the President, extended my hand and said: ‘Mr. President, if the reading of chapters of Artemus Ward is a prelude to such a deed as this, the book should be filed among the archives of the nation, and the author should be canonized. Henceforth I see the light and the country is saved.’ And all said ‘Amen.’ And Lincoln said to me in a droll way, just as I was leaving, ‘Stanton, it would have been too early last spring.’ And as I look back upon it I think the President was right.”

Lincoln’s politics altered and sharpened with changing circumstances, and though never an abolitionist, he was, as he insisted, “naturally antislavery.” He grew up in an atmosphere far more suffused with antislavery sentiment than has been generally understood, in his father’s cabin, the churches, newspapers, and books, the men he chose as his mentors, conversations and debates he joined in country stores, and the politics of Indiana pitting the party of “the People” against the party of “the Virginia Aristocrats.”

Lincoln’s deepening understanding of slavery in its full complexity as a moral, political, and constitutional dilemma began in his childhood among the Primitive Baptist antislavery dissidents in backwoods Kentucky and Indiana, whose churches his parents attended. As a boy he rode down the Mississippi River to New Orleans, where the open-air emporium of slaves on gaudy display shocked him. His development was hardly a straight line, but he was caught up in the currents of the time. His self-education, which started with his immersion in the Bible, Shakespeare, and the freethinking works of Thomas Paine and French philosophes, was the intellectual foundation for his profoundly felt condemnation of Southern Christian pro-slavery theology that surfaced first in his eulogy for Henry Clay and was shaped to diamond hardness in his Second Inaugural. His 1837 Springfield Lyceum address protested the murder by a pro-slavery mob in Alton, Illinois, of the abolitionist editor, Elijah Lovejoy, though he did not mention him by name. Lincoln was one of only two Illinois state legislators who performed the unheard of act of proposing a bill in favor of emancipation in the District of Columbia. As a congressman, he lived in a boardinghouse known as “Abolition House.” He experienced the appalling invasion of slave catchers coming to seize one of the waiters as a fugitive slave. Undoubtedly, he knew the secret of the house where he lived, that it was a station in the Underground Railroad. He denounced the Mexican War as fraudulently started and voted numerous times for the Wilmot Proviso against the expansion of slavery. With the quiet assistance of the leading abolitionists in the Congress, his fellow messmate Joshua Giddings of Ohio and Horace Mann of Massachusetts, he drafted a bill for emancipation in the District, for which none other than John C. Calhoun, of South Carolina, the former vice president, U.S. senator, and tribune of the master class, rebuked him.

Lincoln’s definition of freedom was neither abstract nor indivisible, but began with his autobiography. The “slave” who became the freeman was more than Lincoln’s odyssey—it was the root of his creed. His political insight rested on his own escape, the beginning of his rise. From the dawning of his consciousness as a boy and awakening sense of himself as an American, he viewed the positive actions of government on every level from the town to the nation as essential to the opening of opportunity and advancement of democracy. “As I would not be a slave, so I would not be a master,” he said in 1858. “This expresses my idea of democracy. Whatever differs from this, to the extent of the difference, is no democracy.” He equated freedom, as he understood it, with the American government as he understood it. “This is essentially a people’s contest,” he said in his message to the Congress on July 4th in the first year of the war. “On the side of the Union it is a struggle for maintaining in the world that form and substance of government whose leading object is to elevate the condition of men; to lift artificial weights from all shoulders; to clear the paths of laudable pursuit for all; to afford all an unfettered start and a fair chance in the race of life. Yielding to partial and temporary departures, from necessity, this is the leading object of the Government for whose existence we contend.” And the self-made man who hated slavery was the embodiment of the social and political democracy that the Southern aristocracy despised and whose election as president itself precipitated secession and war.

Visions of the coming apocalypse had filled the minds of John Quincy Adams, the former president and as a member of the Congress relentless antagonist of the “slave power,” and John C. Calhoun. In the civil war they prophesied, Calhoun believed the South would be unconquerable, but Adams described how the president of the future would be compelled to use his constitutionally mandated war power for emancipation in order to triumph. On Adams’s insight, Lincoln would finally find solid ground and his power as president. Only the imperatives of the war lifted the fog of peace and led him under the doctrine of military necessity to the Emancipation Proclamation.

When the war came, Lincoln grasped its universal significance. So did Jefferson Davis, president of the Confederate States of America. After democratic revolutions across Europe in 1848 had been crushed by a conservative alliance of emperors, aristocrats, and pope, Lincoln had chaired a meeting in Springfield to denounce the repression and hail the visit to America of the Hungarian revolutionary exile leader, Louis Kossuth. In the war, Lincoln’s foreign policy was aimed against those European powers that sought to support and ultimately gain recognition of the Confederacy as an independent nation, and smash the United States, the only example of republican government, “the last best hope of Earth.” That is what Lincoln meant when he made that remark, and, to that extent, the Civil War and the vindication of the United States had global stakes, revolutionary not only within its borders.

Lincoln would decide finally on a policy of “hard war,” to extirpate the Southern system root and branch. After years of conflict, he concluded that only this form of revolutionary warfare would succeed. His open remarks in this period about slavery had a razor-sharp edge, differing in tone from the high-flown moral preachments of the abolitionists. When it came to dramatization, the abolitionists had recited the stories of escaped slaves, slave narratives like that of Solomon Northup or Frederick Douglass, or read Uncle Tom’s Cabin, a fictional slave narrative. They appealed to pity, sympathy, and outrage. But the man who had thought of himself as “a slave” turned more personal. “I have always thought that all men should be free; but if any should be slaves it should be first those who desire it for themselves, and secondly those who desire it for others,” Lincoln said near the end of the war, on March 17, 1865, to a group of soldiers from Indiana, one of his home states, at Willard’s Hotel in Washington. Having made this severe statement, he was not satisfied to stop. “Whenever I hear any one arguing for slavery I feel a strong impulse to see it tried on him personally,” he went on. And, about “those white persons who argue in favor of making other people slaves,” he continued, “I am in favor of giving an opportunity to such white men to try it on for themselves.” It was a rare occasion in which the emotionally reticent Lincoln stated exactly what “I feel.” The former “slave” declared slavery a form of justice for slave owners. It was his new proclamation, the inverse of the Proclamation. Of course, it was one of his jokes, and it drew laughter from the soldiers. But it was also not a joke. It was a sarcastic twist on his Second Inaugural Address, given less than two weeks earlier, placing the guilt for the war’s “blood” on slavery and the rebellion in its name. (Among those present at Willard’s Hotel, where Lincoln delivered these remarks, was John Wilkes Booth, having just missed kidnapping him that afternoon.)

The coming of the Civil War was the making of Lincoln. Of course, he did not anticipate that it was coming even as events were preparing him for it. That did not make him passive, just living in history. It was through his self-education that he developed himself intellectually for the task he could not imagine. The war was a political struggle by other means, a politics for dominance over the United States lasting decades in which secession was provoked finally by his election. It was through his life in politics, beginning in the back rooms of post offices and general stores, that he slowly learned the elements of leadership, became president, and then waged the war, transforming it into a revolution, remaking the Constitution, ending slavery—the greatest expropriation of property in human history—and establishing the framework of a new American nation that is still at issue.

In 1860, John Locke Scripps, an editor of the Chicago Tribune, came to interview Lincoln in order to provide a campaign biography. “Why Scripps,” said Lincoln, “it is a great piece of folly to attempt to make anything out of my early life. It can all be condensed into a single sentence, and that sentence you will find in Gray’s Elegy, ‘The short and simple annals of the poor.’ That’s my life and that’s all you or anyone else can make of it.” But it was hardly so simple, as he well knew better than anyone.



CHAPTER ONE


THE READER
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Abraham Lincoln was of the seventh generation of Lincolns in America, descended from a weaver from Norfolk, England, Samuel Lincoln, who became a modestly successful merchant in Hingham, Massachusetts, whose eleven children dispersed to Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and Virginia, and a number of whose descendants became distinguished and affluent. Amos Lincoln, participant in the Boston Tea Party, lieutenant colonel of the Massachusetts artillery in the Revolutionary War, and who married successively two of Paul Revere’s daughters, was the father of Levi Lincoln, the leading Jeffersonian of Massachusetts, member of Congress, U.S. senator, Thomas Jefferson’s attorney general and secretary of state, and then governor. As a lawyer he argued the case in 1783 in which slavery was ruled illegal in Massachusetts. His son, Levi Jr., became governor, too, and Abraham Lincoln would eventually meet him in 1848, introducing himself to his illustrious and distant relative, “I hope we both belong, as the Scotch say, to the same clan; but I know one thing, and that is, that we are both good Whigs.”





[image: images]




Thomas Lincoln




John Lincoln, a great-grandson of Samuel, left his well-to-do family in New Jersey, where his father, Mordecai, owned land and foundries, for Pennsylvania and then Virginia, buying a large expanse in the fertile Shenandoah Valley. He deeded his son, Abraham Lincoln, a tract of 210 acres of the rich Valley land. A captain in the Virginia militia during the Revolution, Abraham appeared to have been inspired by the adventure stories of his distant relative by marriage, Daniel Boone, and trekked through the Cumberland Gap to stake a claim to even more extensive farmland. (The genealogical web linking the Lincoln and Boone families was tightly woven, with four intermarriages between them.) Abraham was well positioned to establish himself among the most prosperous first families of Kentucky, securing 3,200 acres of the best land. But he was ambushed by Indians and killed in 1786. His youngest son, eight-year-old Thomas, barely escaped being snatched as a captive when his older brother, Mordecai, shot the Indian. According to the law of primogeniture still in effect, Mordecai inherited Abraham’s entire estate and was elevated into the Kentucky gentry—slave owner, racehorse breeder, and member of the legislature. Nothing was left to Thomas or his other brother Josiah.

Thomas’s two older brothers were in fact half brothers, offspring of an earlier marriage. After his father’s murder, his stepmother abandoned him, his dead mother’s relatives reluctantly took him in, and he was left to fend for himself as “a wandering labor boy,” as his son would later put it. Working for an uncle in Tennessee, Isaac Lincoln, a planter who owned dozens of slaves, Thomas picked up tradecrafts as a carpenter, mechanic, and farmer, working side by side with his uncle’s slaves. He accumulated enough money, some of it possibly a loan from his half brother Mordecai, to purchase 238 acres in Hardin County, Kentucky, which he leased to a sister’s husband.

Apprenticed at the carpenter’s shop of Joseph Hanks, he spent much of his time at the home of Hanks’s aunt and uncle, Rachel Shipley and Richard Berry, who were the guardians of Hanks’s sister, Nancy. Berry was a fairly well-to-do farmer, with six hundred acres, thirty-four cattle, and three slaves. Rachel was the sister of Nancy’s mother, Lucy Shipley, who had run off with her second husband, Henry Sparrow. Nancy’s father, said to be one James Hanks, or Joseph Hanks, has never conclusively been identified. Some have claimed that Thomas Lincoln and Nancy Hanks were cousins, his mother the older sister of her mother.

Stories of Nancy’s illegitimacy were widespread in the area and by several accounts Lincoln believed it. He once referred to his grandmother as “a halfway prostitute” and admitted “that his relations were lascivious, lecherous, not to be trusted.” Rumors were rife that Nancy was “loose,” even that she had an illegitimate child.

“Billy, I’ll tell you something, but keep it a secret while I live,” Lincoln confessed, riding on the legal circuit with his law partner, William Herndon. “My mother was a bastard, was the daughter of a nobleman, so called, of Virginia. My mother’s mother was poor and credulous, and she was shamefully taken advantage of by the man. My mother inherited his qualities and I hers. All that I am or hope ever to be I get from my mother. God bless her. Did you never notice that bastards are generally smarter, shrewder and more intellectual than others? Is it because it is stolen?” Lincoln’s story as he told it contained the themes of a classic fairy tale, an Old World tale of a pauper who is really a prince, a romance substituting for squalor. The poor boy is unrecognized as the natural-born offspring of aristocracy, possessing not only nobility of lineage but also of mind. But the point of the story was more than compensation for shame or revelation of true aristocracy as a happy ending. The bastard’s child, it turns out, must survive by his wits, what he naturally possesses, not what he’s lost, somehow “stolen.” The would-be fairy tale ends with a twist, the boy creating his past out of dim recollections he has heard about a far-off place he can never regain, as he is inventing himself.

Thomas Lincoln and Nancy Hanks were married in 1806 in a ceremony conducted by a friend of the groom, Jesse Head, a Methodist circuit rider, man of God, and jack-of-all-trades—assistant county judge, local newspaper editor, and cabinetmaker. According to the testimony of a neighbor, the local doctor, Christopher Columbus Graham, the Lincolns were “just steeped full of Jesse Head’s notions about the wrong of slavery and the rights of man as explained by Thomas Jefferson and Thomas Paine.” Neither of them could write, though they might have been able to read a little, but it is improbable that they read anything by Jefferson or Paine, and instead were likely influenced by what they heard from Head. He was vehemently and vociferously antislavery, later breaking away from the regular Methodist Church over the issue to join the Radical Methodists.

Antislavery agitation had roiled Hardin County, especially its churches, since settlers poured through the Cumberland Gap into Kentucky after the Revolution. Slavery was not incidental but central to its life and economy. In 1811, there were nearly as many slaves in the county as white men—1,007 slaves, compared to 1,627 white males older than sixteen. Living in Elizabethtown, young Thomas Lincoln in 1787 was hired as a laborer constructing a mill, working alongside slaves, whose wages were collected by their masters. The price of free labor competed directly with that of slave labor, driving his wages down.

At the mill he was paid no more than the slaves. Like other white men, he was inducted into the local slave patrol to catch runaways, presumably the men he worked with, serving a three-month stint.

The year Thomas helped build the mill a new preacher, Reverend Joshua Carman, appeared at the Elizabethtown Baptist Church, “an enthusiastic Emancipationist,” according to a chronicler of the Kentucky Baptists. The next year Carman founded the South Fork Church, pressing the local Baptist association to stand against slavery. “Is it lawful in the sight of God for a member of Christ’s church to keep his fellow-creatures in perpetual slavery?” he demanded. Failing to receive a satisfactory answer, “fanatical on the subject of slavery, he induced Rolling [South] Fork Church to withdraw from the association and declare non-fellowship with all slave holders.” Though the congregation decided to return to the association in 1802, Carman was hardly discouraged from evangelizing against slavery. Finally, he and another pastor, Josiah Dodge, split off to form a new “Emancipationist” church in nearby Bardstown, “the first organization of the kind in Kentucky.”

In 1807, eleven “Emancipationist” ministers and nine churches in Kentucky created their own antislavery organization, the Baptist Licking-Locust Association Friends of Humanity, which soon organized an Abolition Society. The new preacher in the pulpit at the South Fork Church, William Downs, “was one of the most brilliant and fascinating orators in the Kentucky pulpit in his day,” and he was every bit as antislavery as his predecessor. In 1808, Downs, an “Emancipationist,” was expelled by the pro-slavery majority of the church, which passed a resolution “not to invite him to preach” and branded him “to be in disorder.” Downs was only one of a number of antislavery ministers in Kentucky expelled from their pulpits. He led a group of dissidents to form the Little Mount Separate Baptist Church. David Elkins, another strong antislavery preacher, was also a pastor there. Thomas and Nancy Lincoln, who had belonged to the South Fork Church, left with Downs and joined the new church. Their Knob Creek farm ran close to the Old Cumberland Trail, a principal transportation route between Louisville and Nashville, regularly used by slave dealers moving their human cargo to markets west and south. Undoubtedly, the Lincolns observed the never-ending coffles of enchained blacks marched near their cabin.

The Lincolns’ first child, Sarah, was born in 1807, Abraham on February 12, 1809, and a second son, Thomas, soon after, but who died in infancy. The parents brought Sarah and Abraham regularly to church services, where they almost certainly heard, along with Primitive Baptist preaching, hollering, and hymn singing, vigorous sermons against the wickedness of slavery. Parson Elkins especially befriended the bright little boy. Young Abraham was taught to read and write at what he called an “ABC school.” One of his teachers, Caleb Hazel, was the Lincolns’ next-door neighbor, and a member of the antislavery Little Mount Church. Thomas Lincoln was the groomsman at Hazel’s wedding, a service performed by Reverend Downs. Lincoln described the formation of his views on slavery as among his earliest memories in a letter to A. G. Hodges, a newspaper editor in Frankfort, Kentucky, on April 4, 1864. “I am naturally antislavery,” he said. “If slavery is not wrong, nothing is wrong. I cannot remember when I did not so think and feel.”

On January 1, 1815, a suit was filed to evict Thomas Lincoln from his farm. Claims, surveys, and deeds in Kentucky were remarkably hazy at the time. He had a written contract, paid a fair price and taxes, but lacked a proper deed. A wealthy Philadelphia-based absentee landlord asserted ownership of 10,000 acres of Kentucky real estate, including the tiny Knob Creek property, citing Lincoln as defendant and attaching his income for years of supposed back rent. In June 1816, the trial was postponed for two years. Thomas continued to contest and would even win the case, but he did not know that he would. So he decided to cross the Ohio River into Indiana, admitted that year into the Union as a free state. He had felt under attack from all sides. “This removal,” Lincoln recounted to Scripps, “was partly on account of slavery, but chiefly on account of the difficulty in land titles in Kentucky.” Before leaving, Nancy brought her son to pray at the grave of his lost brother, Thomas.

Thomas Lincoln had to hack his way through dense forests and brush to enter the land of promise. For two months, the family huddled in a half-enclosed tent open on one side to wind, rain, and cold, spooked at night by the cries of wild animals, before moving into a rough one-room cabin they built. A year later, they were joined by Nancy’s aunt and uncle Thomas and Elizabeth Sparrow, who had been ejected from their Hardin County farm by the same sort of lawsuit that bedeviled the Lincolns. They brought with them Elizabeth’s nephew, Dennis Hanks, a cast-off child, born illegitimate, whose real last name was Friend but which he changed to his mother’s maiden name; she, too, was named Nancy Hanks. He was ten years older than Abraham, shared the cabin loft with him, and became his constant companion.

About forty families, most of them migrants from Kentucky, lived within five miles of the Lincolns around a town they called Little Pigeon Creek. In the autumn of 1818, the small community was stricken with “milk sickness,” an epidemic that claimed thousands of lives in the region. Thomas Sparrow caught the illness first, and then Elizabeth, and finally Nancy, who tended them before their deaths. She died on October 5. Nine-year-old Abraham helped his father build the plain wooden coffins. “O Lord, O Lord,” recalled Dennis Hanks, “I’ll never forget the misery in that little green log cabin when Nancy died!” In his old age, he told an interviewer about Lincoln, “He never got over the miserable way his mother died. I reckon she didn’t have no sort of care—poor Nancy!” Abraham, the most literate member of his family, wrote a letter to Pastor Elkins requesting that he travel to perform a funeral service, and he came some months later, perhaps even a year later, preaching at her grave.
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Sarah Bush Johnston Lincoln




Eleven-year-old Sarah was now in charge of the household duties, including care of her brother. “He tried to interest little Sairy in learning to read, but she never took to it,” recalled Dennis Hanks. “Sairy was a little gal, only eleven, and she’d get so lonesome, missing her mother, she’d set by the fire and cry. . . . Tom, he moped ’round.” Thomas left twice for long periods of time, abandoning the children to forage for food in the wilderness. The first time he went to sell pork down the Ohio River; the second to bring back a new wife. He had proposed to Sarah Bush Johnston years before in Kentucky, but she rejected him for the Hardin County jailer, a better catch. Now a widow, she accepted him, a strategic domestic alliance, and in another trek from Kentucky he brought her and her three children to the dirt floor cabin in Little Pigeon Creek. She discovered Abraham and Sarah “wild—ragged and dirty,” and immediately washed them so they “looked more human.” One chronicler who spoke with eyewitnesses recalled, “Mr. L does not appear to have cared for home after the death of his mother.” But his stepmother brought order and affection to his life. “Abe was the best boy I ever saw or ever expect to see,” she said. And he described her as his “kind, tender, loving mother,” to whom he was “indebted more than all the world for his kindness.”

Sarah Bush Lincoln brought civility and domesticity to the rough existence of Thomas Lincoln. She filled a wagon for her new life with her belongings—pots and pans, pewter dishes, pillows, and blankets. Then she made him put in a wooden floor and build beds and chairs. She made everyone wash before dinner. And, according to Dennis Hanks, she made her husband join a church.

Thomas helped construct the new church in the village, the Little Pigeon Creek Baptist Church, affiliated with the United Baptist Association, bridging the Regular Baptists and the Separate Baptists, which refused to have any written articles of faith and to which Thomas adhered. He would not join the Little Pigeon Creek Church, the only one in the town, for seven years, until the theological schism was resolved—and his new wife insisted.

The pastor of the church, Thomas Downs, was the brother of William Downs, also undoubtedly sharing his antislavery creed. Thomas Lincoln became a church trustee and young Abe served as sexton. Two other preachers at the Little Pigeon Creek Church were “Emancipationists,” Alexander Devin and Charles Polke, who had been members of the Indiana constitutional convention that wrote a section going beyond the prohibition on slavery in the Northwest Ordinance of 1787 to ban “the indenture of any negro or mulatto” made in another state, effectively preventing slave states from extending their reach over black freemen into Indiana. Thus the figures of moral authority of the tiny rural community where Lincoln experienced his earliest formative shaping were antislavery.

Sarah Bush Lincoln could not help noticing that “Abe read all the books he could lay his hands on . . . he read diligently . . . he didn’t like physical labor—was diligent for knowledge—wished to know and if pains and labor would get it he was sure to get it.” John Hanks, Dennis’s brother, who came to live with the Lincolns in 1823, called him “a constant and voracious reader.” He was sent to school for less than a year, the most extended period of formal education he ever received, a “blab” school where pupils were made to recite lessons in unison. “There was absolutely nothing to excite ambition for education,” Lincoln wrote in his 1858 autobiography. But Dennis Hanks pointed to the memory of Nancy Lincoln as the initial spark for Abe’s education. “I reckon it was thinking of Nancy and things she’d done said to him that started Abe to studying that next winter. He could read and write. Me and Nancy’d learned him that much, and he’d gone to school a spell; but it was nine miles there and back, and a poor make-out for a school, anyhow. Tom said it was a waste of time, and I reckon he was right. But Nancy kept urging Abe to study. ‘Abe,’ she’d say, ‘you learn all you can, and be some account,’ and she’d tell him stories about George Washington, and say that Abe had just as good Virginny blood in him as Washington. Maybe she stretched things some, but it done Abe good.” But it was his stepmother who was the guardian of his education. “She didn’t have no education herself, but she knowed what learning could do for folks.” Unlike her husband, she valued ambition and invested it in her stepson.

Lincoln read whatever books he could find and whenever he could. He read Weems’s Life of George Washington, John Bunyan’s Pilgrim’s Progress, Robinson Crusoe, The Arabian Nights, and Aesop’s Fables. He studied Noah Webster’s American Spelling Book, among other standard schoolbooks. He read Lindley Murray’s English Reader, containing an antislavery poem by William Cowper, “I would not have a slave to till my ground,/to carry me, to fan me while I sleep,/And tremble when I wake, for all the wealth/that sinews bought and sold have ever earn’d./I had much rather be myself the slave,/And wear the bonds, than fasten them on him.”

“I induced my husband to permit Abe to read and study at home, as well as at school,” recalled Sarah Bush Lincoln. “At first he was not easily reconciled to it, but finally he too seemed willing to encourage him to a certain extent. Abe was a dutiful son to me always, and we took particular care when he was reading not to disturb him—would let him read on and on till he quit of his own accord.”

Most people thought of reading as indolence. “Lincoln was lazy—a very lazy man,” said Dennis Hanks. “He was always reading—scribbling—writing—ciphering—writing poetry.” “Abe was not energetic except in one thing—he was active and persistent in learning—read everything he could,” said his stepsister Matilda Johnston Moore. John Romine, a neighbor, who hired him as a day laborer, said, “Abe was awful lazy: he worked for me—was always reading and thinking—used to get mad at him.” Thomas Lincoln believed his son’s reading was willful shirking and he punished him for it. “He was a constant and I may say stubborn reader, his father having sometimes to slash him for neglecting his work by reading,” recalled Dennis Hanks.

Thomas Lincoln was not naturally an angry or harsh man. “He was a man who took the world easy—did not possess much envy,” said Dennis Hanks. “He loved his relatives do anything for them. . . . No better man then old Tom Lincoln.” But he could be severe and was unsympathetic with his son’s unusual temperament. Abe was lively, unusually clever, staging mock religious services with other children, delivering his own hellfire sermons, writing doggerel and poems, and curious about strangers, asking questions. “Often,” recalled Matilda Johnston Moore, his stepsister, “Abe would make political speeches such as he had heard spoken or seen written.” “Abe was then a rude and forward boy,” said Dennis Hanks. “Abe when whipped by his father never bawled but dropped a kind of silent unwelcome tear, as evidence of his sensations—or other feelings.” Hanks recalled Abe’s small gestures provoking his father’s abrupt hostility. “I have seen his father knock him down off the fence when a stranger would call for information to neighbor house. Abe always would have the first word.” Though Thomas Lincoln wanted Abe to acquire the rudiments of reading and writing, he was not “easily reconciled” to his son’s voracious reading. “I suppose that Abe is still fooling hisself with eddication,” Thomas Lincoln remarked later to a friend. “I tried to stop it, but he has got that fool idea in his head, and it can’t be got out.”

Life had been starkly unfair to Thomas Lincoln—his father murdered, deprived of patrimony, abandoned, forced to compete with slaves and slave owners, driven from his farm by wealthy absentee landlords into the wilderness, his wife suddenly dead of a mysterious sickness. He also had another disability—he was apparently nearly blind, completely blind in one eye and weak in the other, “so he felt his way in the work much of the time: his sense of touch was keen,” according to a neighbor, Elizabeth Crawford, for whom he made furniture. His craft enabled him to operate by feel. He depended on his hands even more than other workmen. And he never complained about his condition, expressed self-pity, demanding sympathy or help. He simply bore his blurred one-eyed vision of the world as he did his other burdens. But it must have frustrated him—and he sometimes lashed out at his son. He had no idea how to handle his gifted child and seemed to resent any sign of his brightness. No matter how desolate the circumstances that Abe had to contend with, they were not as wretched as those his father experienced. Thomas did his best to provide for his family, even getting a new mother for his children. He expected his son to suffer adversity silently like he had, to learn physical skills and a trade. He seemed to respond to Abe’s intelligence as though it was the boy’s conscious insult to make him feel inadequate. He took Abe’s cleverness as pointed humiliation, somehow trying to show him up by acting smart. Sarah Bush Lincoln, however, recognized that he was unusually intelligent and tried to nurture him. “Mrs. Lincoln soon discovered that young Abe was a boy of uncommon natural talents and if rightly trained that a bright future was before him and she done all in her power to develop those talents,” recalled Augustus H. Chapman, Dennis Hanks’s son-in-law. But Thomas’s life allowed no space for acknowledging intellectual pursuits. It was more than a waste of time, but also a distraction from the struggle for survival. The frontier was limitless, but wherever he went he found himself confined. “Thomas Lincoln never showed by his actions that he thought much of his son Abraham when a boy,” said Chapman. “He treated him rather unkind than otherwise, always appeared to think much more of his stepson John D. Johnston than he did of his own son, Abraham.” Knocking Abe off a fence for speaking or “slashing” him for reading was his instinctive way of keeping him in his place, where he needed to bear down. Thomas Lincoln did not want his son to rise above him; nor could he imagine how that might be possible. He thought of ambition as dangerous.

“I never could tell whether Abe loved his father very well or not. I don’t think he did,” said Dennis Hanks. In his two brief autobiographies, Lincoln’s description of his father was of an ignorant man who “grew up literally without education. He never did more in the way of writing than to bunglingly write his own name.” The key word was “bunglingly.” Lincoln defined education as the main distinction between himself and his father, and essential to his rise and respectability. “What he has in the way of education he has picked up,” Lincoln said about himself. “After he was twenty-three and had separated from his father, he studied English grammar—imperfectly, of course, but so as to speak and write as well as he now does. He studied and nearly mastered the six books of Euclid since he was a member of Congress. He regrets his want of education, and does what he can to supply the want.” Lincoln never wanted to do anything “bunglingly.”

In his mid-teens, the hireling Lincoln, “slave” to his father, lived a peripatetic existence, wandering from neighbor house to house, often staying with those for whom he worked, beyond parental control. He and his sister went as a team, Sarah as the kitchen maid and Abe as the field hand, for Josiah and Elizabeth Crawford. “She was a good, kind, amiable girl, resembling Abe,” recalled Elizabeth Crawford about Sarah. Abe split rails, filled the cracks in the cabin, and harvested crops. “Abe was a moral and a model boy, and while other boys were out hooking watermelons and trifling away their time, he was studying his books—thinking and reflecting.” Once, at the Crawfords’, Sarah scolded her younger brother for teasing girls. “Abe you ought to be ashamed of yourself—what do you expect will become of you?” “Be President of the U.S.,” he replied instantly. “He said that he would be President of the U.S., told my husband so often,” said Elizabeth Crawford. “Said it jokingly—yet with a smack of deep earnestness in his eye and tone, he evidently had an idea. . . . No doubt that in his boyish days he dreamed it would be so. Abe was ambitious—sought to outstrip and override others.” A neighbor boy, Joseph C. Richardson, remembered Lincoln as “the best penman in the neighborhood” and asked him to write copy so he could practice imitating him. “One of them I have never forgotten, although a boy at the time, it was this, ‘Good boys who to their books apply; will all be great men by and by.’ ”

Lincoln borrowed Weems’s Washington from Josiah Crawford, left it in a field, where it got soaked in the rain, and had to work three extra days to repay him. He read through the Crawford library of more than a dozen books, including The Kentucky Preceptor, “which we brought from Kentucky and in which and from which Abe learned his school orations, speeches and pieces to recite.” The volume included Jefferson’s First Inaugural Address and Thomas Gray’s “Elegy Written in a Country Churchyard,” which he recited decades later to Scripps. It also contained two striking antislavery stories. In “The Desperate Negro,” a young slave, whipped by the master with whom he grew up, rebels, holds the master hostage, but after vindicating himself against the injustice, commits suicide. The moral of the story is that the slave, not the master, is the man of honor. In “Liberty and Slavery,” decrying “millions of my fellow creatures born to no inheritance by slavery,” the narrator described the life of one slave, manacled in a cell for thirty years, representative of oppression without end.

Lincoln’s sister, Sarah, married Aaron Grigsby, son of a well-to-do farmer, in a wedding on August 1826 at which Abe recited a light poem, “Adam and Eve’s Wedding Song.” He spent much of his time at his sister’s home. In January 1828, Sarah gave birth to her first child. The doctor summoned was drunk. The baby was stillborn and Sarah died of complications. She was twenty years old. When told the news, waiting in the smokehouse, aware that things were going badly, Abe “hid his face in his hands while the tears rolled down through his long bony fingers,” according to Redmond Grigsby, Aaron’s brother. “Those present turned away in pity and left him to his grief.” “What do I have to live for?” he moaned repeatedly.

“Tom owned Abe’s time till he was twenty-one and didn’t want him to go,” recalled Dennis Hanks. “He was too valuable for chores. When Abe was on the farm Tom had more time to hunt and fish, and he’d always rather do that than grub roots or hoe corn. Yes, Tom was kind of shiftless.”

Lincoln’s family had grown into a clan. His stepsisters had married his cousins—Matilda paired with Dennis Hanks and Sarah Johnston with a second cousin, Levi Hall. But even as the family expanded, his immediate family dissolved, with his father the only living link. His stepbrother, John D. Johnston, favored by Thomas, remained in the house, sharing Abe’s love of fun, but was dull-witted and lacked ambition.

In 1827, the two teenagers went down to Louisville to work on the Louisville and Portland Canal. The backbreaking job was hardly a lark; for Lincoln, it was part of his political and economic education, where he earned some of his first silver dollars. The building of the canal to bypass the falls of the Ohio River was prolonged by years of state and national debate. Chartered by Indiana and partially funded by the federal government, the canal was subject to intense controversy as a chief example of internal improvement. In 1829, President Jackson vetoed funds as a subsidy to private corporations, while others argued that by blocking the necessary construction of infrastructure he was retarding economic progress. Lincoln’s position in favor of internal improvements was rooted partly in his early work experience, and he would launch his political career on the issue, remaining an unwavering advocate through the creation of the transcontinental railroad.

Just over the horizon, about thirty miles to the west, a New Jerusalem was being built on the banks of the Wabash River. Robert Owen, the wealthy cotton mill owner and reformer, whose plant in New Lanark in Scotland had banished child labor and established an eight-hour day, decided to construct an ideal community in Indiana. He purchased in its entirety the village of Harmonie and its thirty thousand acres, where a German religious sect, followers of the Lutheran Pietist George Rapp, had created the “Harmony Society,” a pre-millennial commune based on celibacy, pacifism, industry, and the imminent second coming of Christ. Landing in America, Owen expounded his utopian socialist vision before a sympathetic audience assembled on March 7, 1825, in the House of Representatives, consisting of President James Monroe, Secretary of State John Quincy Adams, and leaders of the Congress. In his community of equality, property would be held in common, nobody would be poor, everyone educated, and there would be free love, with music and dancing every night. Hundreds of colonists volunteered for the experiment, notable scientists from all over the world flocked to the far corner of Indiana, and Owen himself appeared to direct the enterprise.

New Harmony featured a school called “the Education Society” that was open to a limited number of outside students for tuition of one hundred dollars a year. “So when this foreign feller spoke in Congress about that Garden of Eden he was going to fence in on the Wabash, we soon heard about it,” said Dennis Hanks. “Abe’d a broke his back to go, and it nigh about broke his heart when he couldn’t.” “ ‘Denny,’ ” Hanks remembered Lincoln saying, “ ‘there’s a school and thousands of books there, and fellers that know everything in creation,’ . . . his eyes as big and hungry as a hoot-owl’s . . . but Abe might just as well have wished for a hundred moons to shine at night. . . . Tom didn’t set no store by them things. . . . Well, I reckon Abe put it out of his mind, after awhile. If he couldn’t get a thing he wanted he knowed how to do without it, and maybe he looked at it different afterwards. But things’d been easier for him if he could have gone to that school.”

Abe was tethered to his father, “a slave.” Mary Lincoln later recalled him saying on the subject of paternal authority, “It is my pleasure that my children are free, happy, and unrestrained by parental tyranny. Love is the chain whereby to lock a child to its parent.” Though he was bound as a contract laborer, giving his wages to his father, he used his work to stay away from home, rarely returning, and roamed within a thirty-mile radius to discover new connections. He adopted a series of mentors to open unexplored vistas. They did not choose him as a protégé, but rather he selected them.

Lincoln had attended the “blab” school with a neighbor, David Turnham, six years older, who, after elected justice of the peace, came to possess a copy of the Revised Statutes of Indiana. Lincoln was riveted by it. But his friend would not let him borrow the book essential to his position, so Abe spent long periods at Turnham’s home reading and rereading it. The volume contained the Declaration of Independence and the Constitution, probably the first time Lincoln encountered them. It would also have been his introduction to the legal basis of slavery.

After studying the Revised Statutes, Lincoln not only closely observed the proceedings before his friend’s informal civil court—misdemeanors, landlord and tenant disputes, debts, and the like—but also stepped forward to represent clients who were his neighbors. “This both amused and interested him very much,” recalled Augustus H. Chapman. Practicing law without a license, with rudimentary knowledge, and entirely on a pro bono basis, the budding attorney, at the age of seventeen and eighteen years old, attired in rough homespun clothes, discovered the power of argument through these long forgotten, unrecorded obscure cases, “in most of which he was successful.”

While working as a ferryman on the Anderson River near the Ohio, Abe transported passengers to steamboats. “I could scarcely credit that I, a poor boy, had earned a dollar in less than a day,” he later recounted to Seward. But the regular licensed ferry operators, the Dill brothers, filed a lawsuit against him for infringing on their business. Arguing his own case before a Kentucky justice of the peace, Lincoln claimed he was innocent because he never ferried passengers across the river but only to the boat in the middle of it. He won the case and began attending trials at that civil court, too.

Lincoln also wandered to Boonville, attending trials at the county court, and “paid strict attention to what was said and done,” according to an eyewitness. At a murder trial in 1828, “the shabby boy” approached the prosecuting attorney, John Brackenridge, telling him his presentation was “a clear, logical and powerful effort.” Thirty-four years later, when Brackenridge went to Washington, Lincoln “instantly recognized” him and remembered the trial. “It was the best speech that I, up to that time, ever heard,” he told Brackenridge, and as a result he had “formed a fixed determination to study the law and make that his profession.”

Lincoln on his own composed articles that he showed to one of the neighbors he worked for, William Wood, who also shared his newspapers with him. Abe called him “Uncle Wood.” In 1827, Wood recalled, Lincoln gave him “a piece on national politics—saying that the American government was the best form of government in the world for an intelligent people—that it ought to be kept sound and preserved forever: that general education should be fostered and carried all over the country: that the Constitution—should be saved—the Union perpetuated and the laws revered.” Wood was so impressed he showed it to a friend, John Pitcher, perhaps the leading lawyer in the county. Pitcher didn’t believe that a “neighbor boy” had written it, but Wood insisted it was so. “The world can’t beat it,” declared Pitcher, who arranged its publication in a local newspaper. Soon Lincoln appeared at Pitcher’s office in Rockport and began reading through his library. He told him he wished he could study law with him but that his parents needed him to work on the farm. (Pitcher was antislavery. His sons became generals in the Civil War, and one of them, Thomas Pitcher, was appointed superintendent of West Point in 1866.) Another “neighbor boy,” twelve years younger than Lincoln, Alvin P. Hovey, did study law with Pitcher, became a prominent antislavery Democrat, switched parties after President James Buchanan removed him as U.S. attorney for Indiana, rose to become a Civil War major general, serving closely with Grant at Vicksburg, and was later elected governor of Indiana. President Lincoln was well aware of him, helping direct his counterespionage in Indiana against the Confederate secret service and pro-Confederate Copperheads.

Lincoln’s true schoolhouse was a general store in the crossroads village of Gentryville, located about a mile and a half from his family’s cabin. The hamlet’s founder was James Gentry, the richest man in the immediate area, owning more than a thousand acres and opening his store in 1826. His chief clerk, William Jones, was appointed postmaster and started a little store of his own. Lincoln was hired as his clerk and often slept there. Jones was a graduate of Vincennes University, the first public institution of higher learning in Indiana, had a library, subscribed to newspapers, and as postmaster had access to all the papers that came through.

Jones’s store became the debating society for a host of men before whom Abe learned to make his points and hold an audience enthralled. “The sessions were held in Jones’s store, where the auditors and disputants sat on the counter, on inverted nail kegs, or lolled upon barrels or bags, while the wordy contest raged,” wrote Henry Clay Whitney, an Illinois friend of Lincoln to whom he told stories of his early days. “The questions selected for discussion were not concrete. At one time there would be a debate upon the relative forces of wind and water; at another, upon the comparative wrongs of the Indian and the negro; the relative merits of the ant and the bee; also of water and fire.”

“Lincoln would frequently make political speeches to the boys; he was always calm, logical, and clear,” said Dennis Hanks. “His jokes and stories were so odd, original, and witty all the people in town would gather around him. He would keep them till midnight. Abe was a good talker, a good reasoner, and a kind of newsboy.” “We had political discussions from 1825 to 1830, the year Lincoln left for Illinois,” recalled Nathaniel Grigsby, one of Lincoln’s friends, brother of his sister’s husband, and a regular participant in the rustic salon. “We attended them—heard questions discussed—talked everything over and over and in fact wore it out. We learned much in this way. . . . His mind and the ambition of the man soared above us. He naturally assumed the leadership of the boys. He read and thoroughly read his books whilst we played. . . . Lincoln was figurative in his speeches, talks and conversations. He argued much from analogy and explained things hard for us to understand by stories, maxims, tales, and figures. He would almost always point his lesson or idea by some story that was plain and near as that we might instantly see the force and bearing of what he said.”

The emergence of the “newsboy” was a new phenomenon of American democracy. Reading newspapers to keep up with current events suddenly became a widespread activity in the 1820s. The population had grown from 3.9 million in 1790 (Thomas Lincoln was born in 1788), to 12.9 million in 1830, matched by an explosion in the number and proliferation of newspapers. Like Rip Van Winkle (written by Washington Irving in 1819), the country awoke surrounded by a “rising generation.” By the time Lincoln was holding forth in Jones’s store, there were more than fifty newspaper subscriptions for every one hundred households, spread by the most comprehension postal system in the world. Newspaper circulation in the United States was three times greater than in Britain by 1835. Almost all the American papers were filled with national and international news, with little local information, which editors assumed people received by word of mouth. Entire speeches by politicians were a regular feature. Reading was becoming a necessity of modern life, especially for the younger generation; but for those who were semiliterate and mired in old rural customs like Thomas Lincoln it just seemed a mystifying distraction.

“Colonel Jones was Lincoln’s guide and teacher in politics,” said Nat Grigsby. Jones was also a ready source of newspapers and books. “Jones told me that Lincoln read all his books and I remember History of the U.S. as one,” said John R. Dougherty, a friend of Jones.

William Grimshaw’s History of the United States, published in 1821, a particular volume Lincoln studied, concluded with an account of how Northern states established laws for emancipation and prohibited slavery. “Since the middle of the last century, expanded minds have been, with slow gradation, promoting the decrease of human slavery in North America,” wrote Grimshaw. “The progress of truth is slow; but it will in the end prevail.” His history looked forward to a new dawn of enlightenment. “Virginia, as well as every other American republic that still sanctions domestic bondage, will, we confidently anticipate, at no distant period, make arrangements to unloosen, by degrees, the fetters, which are no less alarming to the master, than galling to the slave. Let us not only declare by words, but demonstrate by our actions, ‘That all men are created equal, that they are endowed, by their Creator, with the same unalienable rights; that, amongst these, are life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness.’ ” (The historian’s son, Jackson Grimshaw, would become a lawyer in Quincy, Illinois, a founder with Lincoln of the Republican Party, and a member of the inner circle of Lincoln’s political intimates who attended the crucial meeting with him in February 1860 that decided to launch his run for president. Lincoln would appoint him a collector of internal revenue for Quincy.)

The history of antislavery politics was hardly remote or theoretical to the cracker-barrel talkers in Jones’s store. It was central to the emergence of the state of Indiana, whose political divisions were drawn by the antislavery struggle. That battle had been going on for more than twenty years before Lincoln began to voice his opinions. He had to have been informed about its background in order to have confidence in speaking about politics.

Thomas Lincoln, fleeing the slave system, brought his family into Indiana just as it was admitted into the Union as a free state, the culmination of a bitter clash between the powerful forces in favor of slavery and the insurgency against it. William Henry Harrison, the territorial governor, the dominant political figure in Indiana, tried for years to abrogate the prohibition of slavery in the Sixth Clause of the Ordinance of 1787 that created the Northwest Territory, the vast region north of the Ohio River lying between Pennsylvania and the Mississippi River that would become six distinct states. Framed by Thomas Jefferson and enacted as one of the first acts of the Congress, the Ordinance was the first antislavery charter. The ruling elite of Indiana clustered around Harrison, known as the Vincennes Junto, was becoming outnumbered by the influx of antislavery immigrants, both from the North and South, adamantly opposed to slavery as a system to oppress poor whites. Only by legalizing slavery could the elite attract slave owners into the territory and secure a majority to sustain themselves in power. At Harrison’s direction, the territorial legislature circumvented the refusal of the Congress to suspend the Sixth Clause, passing “An Act to Introduce Negroes and Mulattoes” as slaves in 1806.

Harrison, the son of a wealthy Virginia planter, was a classic case of the upward mobility of the upper class, ratcheting up from position to position through his social and political connections. Starting as aide-de-camp to General “Mad” Anthony Wayne, victor of the Battle of Fallen Timbers against the Western Confederacy of Indian tribes that wrested control of the Ohio territory in 1794, Harrison used his family connections through the Federalist Party to secure appointment as territorial governor of the Indiana Territory. President Thomas Jefferson reappointed him in order to clear Indians from the region; yet Jefferson opposed the extension of slavery. He was, after all, the inspiration of the Ordinance of 1787 as author of the Report of Government for Western Territory of 1784 that excluded slavery. In 1808, a legislative commission headed by Harrison’s adjutant, General Washington Johnston, presumed to be pro-slavery, filed a surprisingly eloquent antislavery report, whose ringing conclusion cited to great effect Jefferson’s prophetic line against it from his Notes on Virginia: “At the very moment that the progress of reason and general benevolence is consigning slavery to its merited destination; that England, sordid England, is blushing at the practice; that all good men of the Southern States repeat in one common response ‘I tremble for my country when I reflect that God is just’; must the Territory of Indiana take a retrograde step into barbarism and assimilate itself with Algiers and Morocco?”

On the defensive, Harrison’s junto was delivered yet another blow when the Illinois Territory, where its support was strong, was separated from Indiana in 1809, a division Harrison desperately opposed. The separation triggered an election for a territorial delegate to the House of Representatives in anticipation of statehood, a contest that crystallized the antislavery movement. Its leader, twenty-five-year-old Jonathan Jennings, a New Jersey migrant, son of a Presbyterian minister who had learned the law, was a rising man with a popular touch, who campaigned under the slogan “No slavery in Indiana.” The junto’s candidate, Thomas Randolph, a native Virginian of the aristocratic Randolph family, cousin of Jefferson and ally of Harrison, was soundly defeated. In 1816, Jennings triumphed again, and was elected president of the constitutional convention that established the new state, outlawed slavery, and upheld the Ordinance’s Sixth Clause. The constitution was adopted in June 1816 and the state admitted in December. Jennings was elected Indiana’s first governor and then to nine terms in the Congress, where he promoted internal improvements, ultimately drifting away from the Jacksonian Democrats into a new alignment. Harrison was appointed general of the Army of the Northwest for the war against Indian tribes led by Tecumseh, and would become the first elected Whig president in 1840.

Out of the decisive battles over statehood and slavery the two political parties in Indiana were defined until the emergence of the Whigs in the 1830s. One side was called “the Virginia Aristocrats” and the other simply “the People.” For two decades after the first territorial election, those remained the prevailing sides of the political world of Lincoln’s youth.

Thomas Lincoln undoubtedly voted for Jennings. Abe had more than a passing acquaintance with members of the constitutional convention, Alexander Devin and Charles Polke, Emancipationist preachers at the Little Pigeon Creek Church that he and his family attended. And he regularly read the Western Register, published in Terre Haute and edited by John W. Osborn, an antislavery crusader, to which William Jones subscribed. Osborne was a central character in the drama for abolition in Indiana. Osborn had initiated the lawsuit on behalf of a mulatto woman named Polly, held as a slave by Hyacinthe Lasselle, one of the mainstays of the Vincennes Junto and the town’s biggest innkeeper. The circuit court ruled there was “no reason” she should not be bound as a slave because she was “born a slave.” But the Indiana Supreme Court decided in 1820 that according to the antislavery provision of the state constitution of 1816 “the framers of our constitution intended a total and entire prohibition of slavery in this State.” It was slavery’s death knell in Indiana. (Osborn continued as a crusading journalist, during the Civil War founding a pro-Lincoln newspaper called The Stars and Stripes.)

Even as the slavery issue was closed in Indiana, it raged across the state line in Illinois. The tumultuous battle, at last ending slavery throughout the whole of the Northwest Territory, captivated Indiana, filling its newspapers with passionate articles and drawing antislavery activists into the fray. Osborn, for one, railed against slavery in Illinois, influencing his readers there. News of this contest would have been Lincoln’s earliest introduction to the politics of Illinois, an incipient civil war, subsuming them into his own career. They occurred at the very inception of Illinois as a state, but would settle like a geological layer in Lincoln’s mind. The politics of Illinois would become his arena and its history his history.

Illinois was admitted to the Union in 1818 and the next year adopted a constitution forbidding slavery. But pro-slavery forces in control of the state legislature adopted a harsh Black Code restricting the presence and activities of blacks, and slavery actually continued to exist. At about the same time, Edward Coles arrived, appointed the federal land registrar by Secretary of the Treasury William Harris Crawford, who was planning to run for the presidency in 1824 and sought to place a political agent in Illinois to counter its U.S. senator, Ninian Edwards, who was backing the prospective candidacy of his rival, Secretary of War John C. Calhoun. Edwards and Calhoun would loom as shadows over Lincoln’s life in very different ways.

Edward Coles was the son of a wealthy Virginia aristocrat, John Coles, brother-in-law of Patrick Henry and uncle of Dolley Payne Todd Madison. Thomas Jefferson was a neighbor and special friend of the family. Under the tutelage of Bishop James Madison, president of the College of William and Mary, Coles read the classic texts of Enlightenment thinkers and concluded that slavery violated the spirit of the Declaration of Independence—a document that in its original draft included a lengthy paragraph written by Jefferson condemning the slave trade, “this execrable commerce.” A protégé of Jefferson, Coles urged him after his presidency to assume leadership of the antislavery movement; but while Jefferson favored gradual emancipation, at least in theory, he wrote that the task must fall to a younger generation. In his reply to Coles, Jefferson wrote on August 25, 1814, “Your solitary but welcome voice is the first which has brought this sound to my ear, and I have considered the general silence which prevails on this subject as indicating an apathy unfavorable to every hope, yet the hour of emancipation is advancing in the march of time. It will come.” President James Madison appointed Coles his private secretary and then plenipotentiary to Russia. Coles held lengthy conversations with Madison pressing him on slavery. In 1819, he sold his plantation and took his slaves with him to Illinois. On the voyage down the Ohio River, before reaching his destination, he gathered them on the deck of his flatboats and declared them freed, and gave each family 160 acres of fertile Illinois farmland.
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Edward Coles, Second Governor of Illinois




Coles ran for governor in 1822 against three pro-slavery opponents, whose split votes enabled him to win with a plurality. In his inaugural address, he called in the name of “justice and humanity” for the end of slavery and reform of the Black Code, including a law to thwart slave owners from kidnapping free blacks they claimed as fugitives. His speech triggered an explosion. Pro-slavery feeling in Illinois was reaching fever pitch as a result of the Missouri Compromise of 1820, which permitted slavery south of the Mason-Dixon Line, but allowed Missouri as the exclusion. Prosperous immigrants from Virginia and Kentucky streamed to the promised land of Missouri across Illinois, trailing wagons, cattle, and slaves, and creating an impression stoked by pro-slavery advocates that if slavery were legal Illinois would be a boom state. But legalization required a convention that would adopt a new constitution to erase its antislavery provision. In order to reach the two-thirds legislative majority for a referendum on a convention, the pro-slavery faction in a coup removed a representative who was an obstacle and replaced him with one in favor. The night after the resolution passed, pro-slavery leaders marched at the head of a mob to Coles’s residence, according to a contemporary account, “a wild and indecorous procession by torchlight and liquor,” shouting threats: “Convention or death!” “Their object was to intimidate, and crush all opposition at once,” wrote Thomas Ford, a Democratic governor of Illinois in the 1840s, who knew Lincoln as a state legislator. Opponents also filed a malicious lawsuit against Coles for supposedly violating the Black Code, claiming his emancipation of his slaves was illegal. Then he was persecuted with a frivolous suit charging him with libel of his antagonists. All the suits drained his resources, but were eventually dismissed years afterward.

Coles, however, was not intimidated. He organized a movement, even bought a newspaper, spent his entire salary in the cause, and was supported by antislavery journalists and preachers. His chief aide was Colonel William S. Hamilton, Alexander Hamilton’s son—the protégé of Jefferson and the son of his rival united on the frontier against slavery. For eighteen months, “a long, excited, angry, bitter, and indignant contest” was waged until the conclusive vote in August 1824 banishing slavery from Illinois forever. The county with the greatest vote against the convention, the most antislavery, was Sangamon County.

Antislavery Baptist preachers were at the heart of the movement, forming an anti-convention group of thirty ministers in St. Clair County that spread through fourteen counties blanketing the state. Pro-convention forces, while counting many of the most important political figures, depended more on clamor and invective, lacking the effective organization of the evangelical abolitionists. Lincoln was familiar with at least one of these influential preachers, Reverend James Lemen Sr., who had helped write the original antislavery constitution of Illinois and was later elected to the state legislature while Lincoln served there. In Springfield, Lincoln befriended Lemen’s son, James Jr., pastor of a large Baptist church, and was especially close to Lemen cousins, James Matheny, one of Lincoln’s earliest political allies, and Ward Hill Lamon, who would become his law partner in Danville, utterly devoted follower, and self-designated bodyguard. The Lemen family later disclosed sketchy diaries of the patriarch and letters claiming to prove he had been originally sent to Illinois by Jefferson on a secret mission to wrest it from the grip of slavery, referred to as “The Jefferson-Lemen Antislavery Compact.” Among the letters was one Lincoln supposedly wrote in 1857 to James Lemen, Jr., describing the father as “Jefferson’s antislavery agent in Illinois,” and praising him for having “set in motion the forces which finally made Illinois a free state.” But the historian James A. Edstrom exposed the letter as almost certainly fraudulent and declared the “compact” with Jefferson a “myth.” Whether the document was fabricated or not, Lemen did, in fact, play a pivotal role in the antislavery movement in Illinois, and Lincoln was aware of it. More generally, he understood that the North itself was not born free; that the state of his youth and the state he made his own had to struggle to abolish slavery despite the Ordinance of 1787; and that the battles against the extension of slavery in Indiana and Illinois were precursors of “Bleeding Kansas.”

Almost at the moment of the 1824 vote in Illinois against a new constitutional convention, the Marquis de Lafayette, the great French general of the American Revolution, Washington’s comrade-in-arms, landed in New York for his final tour of America and to pay his last respects to his old revolutionary compatriot Jefferson. It was the most celebrated and widely publicized event of the time, from his grand reception by President James Monroe to his travels through twenty-four states. Lafayette had known Coles in Paris, and Coles accompanied him for a portion of his trip in the Western states, bringing him to Illinois in April 1825, where together they toasted the universal rights of man. Lafayette’s personal secretary, Auguste Levasseur, in his account of the tour, reported at length on Coles’s political fight in Illinois against men “led astray by ancient prejudices” and how “justice and humanity triumphed.” Lafayette’s trip would have fired the imagination of the Illinois teenager who worshipped Washington and read everything he could on the American Revolution.

But, above all, especially after the death of his sister, Lincoln wanted to flee, to “light out for the territory ahead.” He began clerking at James Gentry’s store about a month after she died and a month after that Gentry asked him if he would join his son Allen on a flatboat trip to New Orleans. Lincoln jumped at the chance to explore the wide world. Allen, a few years older, was his friend, and Gentry offered eight dollars a month. It took them weeks to build the boat, but they did not leave until December 1828, shoving off from Gentry’s Landing at Rockport on the Ohio River. Lincoln acted as cook, navigator, and crew, the real boy rafting down the Mississippi before the fictional one, steering past shoals, waving lights at twilight to avoid being rammed by steamboats, keeping the small craft from being capsized in storms that turned the mighty river into an angry sea, and guiding the boat at night to the bank, where he and his shipmate slept on deck. Along the way, in the towns on the river, they traded bacon, potatoes, and apples for cotton, tobacco, and the prized commodity of sugar.

One night, on the Sugar Coast of Louisiana, six miles south of Baton Rouge, Gentry and Lincoln were attacked by a gang of blacks armed with hickory clubs, slaves from a nearby plantation, seeking to rob and, according to Lincoln, “kill them.” “Lincoln,” shouted Gentry, “get the guns and shoot!” But they had no guns; it was a ruse to scare off the intruders. “They were hurt some in the mêlée,” Lincoln recalled, speaking in the third person to Scripps, “but succeeded in driving the negroes from the boat, and then ‘cut cable,’ ‘weighed anchor,’ and left.” Lincoln bore a scar on his head as a memento of the nighttime fight.

New Orleans was the third largest and most cosmopolitan city in the country, about half its residents French speaking, and half black, those divided almost equally between slaves and freemen. The provincial boy must have been dazzled by the public dance halls and theaters, and was appalled by whole streets filled with slave pens and auction blocks. Slaves were paraded before buyers, who inspected them like livestock, purchasing a son but not the mother, a father but not the wife—“a mournful scene indeed,” wrote one slave sold at a New Orleans auction house, who later escaped to tell the tale. “I would have cried myself if I had dared.” The prohibition of the transatlantic slave trade in 1808 had created a boom in the domestic market, with New Orleans as its most thriving center, providing an endless supply of fresh labor for the new plantations of Alabama, Mississippi, and Louisiana. In the year Lincoln landed in New Orleans, ten thousand slaves were bought and sold there, a more lucrative business than any other, profits sweeter than in sugar. Wandering the teeming city, Lincoln and Gentry were stunned to see barely clothed mulatto women their own age being sold, brazen human trafficking, the sexual subtext as little disguised as the scanty attire. “Allen,” said Lincoln, “that’s a disgrace.” “We stood and watched the slaves sold in New Orleans,” recalled Allen Gentry, “and Abraham was very angry.” “When a boy I went to New Orleans on a flatboat,” Lincoln wrote in a letter on January 9, 1860, “and there I saw slavery and slave markets as I have never seen them in Kentucky, and I heard worse of the Red River plantations.” His letter disclosed that he already had firsthand familiarity with slavery, had seen it as a young boy, and at least once in Louisiana held conversations about its scope. “Why, Abe always was against slavery!” exclaimed James Gentry when later asked about it.

Selling their cargo and the boat, the boys stayed in New Orleans an indeterminate amount of time before boarding a steamer heading north up the Mississippi. Decades later, the battles in the towns and cities along the river would not have been mere names to Lincoln, but distinct places he had seen. Having demonstrated that he could handle himself as a river man, a trader, beating off bandits, and as a buckskin boulevardier, Lincoln returned from his adventures to the grinding life of a contract laborer in an isolated hamlet. He begged William Wood to find him another job on the river. “Abe,” he replied, “your age is against you. You are not twenty-one yet.” “I know that,” he said, “but I want a start.”

While Lincoln was hammering together the flatboat and waiting to glide it downriver, he would have been paying close attention to the raucous political campaign of 1828 that marked the advent of the second party system splintering out of the old Jeffersonian Republican-Democrats. Four years earlier, Andrew Jackson won a plurality for president, winning in Indiana, but the election was decided in the House of Representatives, where Henry Clay threw his backing behind John Quincy Adams, an alliance denounced by Jacksonians as “the corrupt bargain.” Politics in Indiana still remained organized around personalities and the lingering split between “the Virginia Aristocrats” and “the People.” Lincoln memorized Clay’s speeches, studying them in the Louisville newspapers, reciting them for friends. “Harry of the West,” eloquent and canny, apostle of the “self-made man,” advocate of internal improvements and tariff protection of manufactures, the “American System” financed by the federal government, was his hero. The contest of 1828 pitted Adams against Jackson again. Two of the towns near Gentryville were named Jackson and Clay, illustrating the argument. According to Dennis Hanks, he and Abe “went to political and other speeches and gatherings as you do now. We would hear all sides and opinions, talk them over, discuss them, agreeing or disagreeing.” Undoubtedly, Lincoln also heard the speeches of the congressman representing his district, Ratliff Boon, who had been Jonathan Jennings’s lieutenant governor and succeeded him as governor. He was a Jackson supporter, who campaigned by proudly declaring, “I have nothing to claim through my ancestors.” Lincoln, Hanks said, “was originally a Democrat after the order of Jackson—so was his father—so we all were.” But he could not fix precisely when Lincoln became a Whig, a party that did not emerge under that label until 1834. “I opposed Abe in politics when he became Whig—was till 20 years of age a Jackson Democrat—turned Whig or Whiggish about 1828—think Col. Jones made him a Whig—don’t know.”

“I think when the Lincolns left here, they were Jackson men,” recalled David Turnham. “I think that Jackson’s opposition to the U.S. Bank and the crisis that followed caused them to turn.” He was fairly certain that Abe “turned Whig in Illinois.” John Hanks, who was not present in Indiana in 1828, offered that Lincoln “could not hear Jackson wrongfully abused, especially where a lie and malice did the abuse.” But he added confusedly and almost certainly wrongly, particularly about Thomas Lincoln, “I can say that Abe never was a Democrat: he was always a Whig—so was his father before him.”

Lincoln’s mentors—the store owner Jones, Justice of the Peace Turnham, and neighbor Wood—were Adams men. But Elizabeth Crawford remembered Abe singing a Jackson campaign jingle ridiculing Adams: “Let auld acquaintance be forgot, And never brought to mind, And Jackson be our President, And Adams left behind.” Indiana went overwhelmingly for Jackson. It was possible Lincoln supported him, too, but turned to the new Whigs after Jackson was elected and opposed internal improvements. President Jackson’s Maysville Road veto against using federal funds to build a highway in Kentucky in May 1830, a direct rebuff of Clay, did not come until several months after the Lincolns left Indiana. Yet it is also possible that Lincoln was for Adams. (Jones, Lincoln’s “guide,” was elected a Whig member of the Indiana legislature from 1838 to 1841, and remained a friend. In 1844, when Lincoln returned to Gentryville to deliver a campaign speech for Clay’s presidential candidacy, he stayed with Jones. During the war, though in his sixties, Jones joined the Union army, became a colonel, and was killed at the Battle of Atlanta.)

Upon his return to Little Pigeon Creek from New Orleans, Lincoln would have been absorbed reading the newspapers covering the great debate in Washington over states’ rights and the authority of the federal government. The conflict had been sparked by a bill to place a moratorium on the sale of Western lands until the current stock was mostly sold, seized as an occasion to forge an alliance of Southern slave owners with the Western states, isolating the nonslaveholding North, protecting and extending slavery. Senator Robert Y. Hayne of South Carolina rose first to defend what he called “the Carolina doctrine”—the right of a state to nullify federal law. As colonel in the state militia he had commanded the suppression of the Denmark Vesey slave revolt conspiracy of 1822 in Charleston, a “conspiracy” undoubtedly inflated by forced confessions obtained through torture, and in 1826 denounced the American Colonization Society, the philanthropy of moderate antislavery elites that sought to reestablish blacks in Africa, for casting aspersions on slavery. Hayne was the protégé of Vice President John C. Calhoun, ideologue of slavery and states’ rights, who, sitting as president of the Senate, coached him from the sidelines as he spoke, passing notes. Hayne argued that only the states had true sovereignty, that the federal government was their mere contrivance, and that the policies on public land and tariffs were “grievance oppression.” He sarcastically derided the Ordinance of 1787, which banished slavery from the Northwest Territory (including Illinois), declaring that if the states were deprived of the right to nullify federal law the United States would have “a Government without limitation of powers.” He finished with a ringing call for “a firm, manly and steady resistance against usurpation” that if not overthrown “will soon involve the whole South in irretrievable ruin.”

Then, on January 26 and 27, 1830, Senator Daniel Webster of New Hampshire, “the Godlike Daniel,” took the floor. “This,” he said, “leads us to inquire into the origin of this government and the source of its power.” The idea that “this general government is the creature of the States,” was an “absurdity” that “arises from a misconception as to the origin of this government and its true character. It is, Sir, the people’s Constitution, the people’s government, made for the people, made by the people, and answerable to the people.” His conclusion distilled in a phrase the credo of American nationalism: “Liberty and Union, now and forever, one and inseparable!”

Webster’s “Second Reply to Hayne” was the most famous speech ever delivered in the Senate, published in full in the newspapers, and reproduced in a pamphlet with an unprecedented circulation of 100,000. (In preparing his First Inaugural Address, Lincoln asked his law partner, William H. Herndon, to bring him a copy of Jackson’s proclamation against nullification of 1832 and Clay’s oration in favor of the Compromise of 1850, but he did not need the pages of Webster’s speech, “the very best speech that was ever delivered,” he told Herndon, because he had long ago committed it to memory, paraphrasing it in many speeches of his own, including the Inaugural Address, and later at the dedication of the Gettysburg cemetery.)

In the fall of 1829 and early winter of 1830, Lincoln helped his father build a new house out of wooden planks, a finer and larger structure than the original log cabin. But after an aunt and uncle died in a new epidemic of the milk sickness, the family in a panic decided to leave Indiana. John Hanks had gone to Illinois a year earlier, reporting that it was good territory for starting a farm—and healthier. Thomas sold his corn and hogs, his cabin and new house, and loaded up a wagon pulled by oxen. “I well remember the day when the Lincolns started for Illinois,” said James Gentry. “Nearly all the neighbors was there to see them leave.” On March 1, 1829, fifteen Lincolns, Johnstons, and Hankses set off. “I reckon we was like one of them tribes of Israel that you can’t break up, no-how,” said Dennis Hanks. “And Tom was always looking for the land of Canaan. There was five families of us, then, and Abe. It took us two weeks to get there, rafting over the Wabash, cutting our way through the woods, fording rivers, prying wagons and steers out of sloughs with fence rails, and making camp. Abe cracked a joke every time he cracked a whip, and he found a way out of every tight place while the rest of us was standing around scratching our fool heads.”

The Lincolns settled outside Decatur in a cabin they built overlooking the Sangamon River. Abe labored as a farmhand, plowman, and mauler of wood, which John Hanks would later recall at a propitious moment during the 1860 campaign to create the indelible image of the “Rail Splitter.” Lincoln did, indeed, split many rails, “three thousand rails,” according to John Hanks. In the summer of 1830, working to clear a field on the farm near Springfield of William Butler, who was well connected in what would become the state Whig Party, Lincoln attended a political speech delivered by Reverend Peter Cartwright. Cartwright, a Jacksonian Democrat, who represented the district off and on in the state legislature, was one of the most prominent preachers in Illinois, a hellfire-and-brimstone Methodist saver of born-again souls at camp meetings, and once proclaimed, “I have waged an incessant warfare against the world, the flesh, the devil, and all the other enemies of the Democratic Party!” Lincoln, Butler recalled, “was as rough a specimen of humanity as could be found. His legs were bare for six inches between bottom of pants and top of socks,” while Cartwright “dressed as became his station.” The preacher, according to Butler, “laid down his doctrines in a way which undoubtedly seemed to Lincoln a little too dogmatical. A discussion soon arose between him and Cartwright, and my first special attention was attracted to Lincoln by the way in which he met the great preacher in his arguments, and the extensive acquaintance he showed with the politics of the state—in fact he quite beat him in the argument.” It was Lincoln’s initial clash with the pastor, whom he would run against twice for public office.

At yet another political meeting that summer, in Decatur, Lincoln heard two Democratic candidates running for the state legislature, one named Ewing and the other Posey. John Hanks thought Posey’s speech “was a bad one and I said Abe could beat it.” Hanks turned over a box, which Lincoln mounted. “Abe beat him to death—his subject being the navigation of the Sangamon River. The man after the speech was through took Abe aside and asked him where he had learned so much and what he did so well. Abe explained, stating his manner and method of reading and what he had read: the man encouraged Lincoln to persevere.” In another account of the incident, George Close, who split rails with Lincoln, recalled that he was at first “frightened but got warmed up and made the best speech of the day. This was L first speech. Did not abuse Posey but spoke well of both men—pictured out the future of Ill[inois]. When he got through Ewing said, ‘He was a bright one!’ ”

Escaping the milk sickness in Indiana, Thomas Lincoln, his wife, and her daughter were afflicted in Illinois in the fall of 1830 with chills and fever, probably malaria. Then what became known as the Deep Snow fell, endless blizzards and subzero temperatures, the bitterest winter in living memory. Abe suffered frostbite while foraging for food. Thomas determined to “git out o’ thar” when it was warm again, to return to Indiana.

But John Hanks approached Abe with a proposition to take a flatboat to New Orleans. Hanks had been down the Mississippi several times and a friend of his would stake them. Lincoln, his stepbrother, and Hanks canoed down the Sangamon to Springfield to rendezvous with the middleman. Entering the Buckhorn Tavern, under the sign riddled with bullet holes, they discovered their sponsor sleeping off a drunken night. Denton Offutt, speculator and confidence man, “a wild, harum-scarum kind of a man,” “a gassy—windy—brain rattling man,” according to those who knew him, was filled with constant schemes, and had unusual talents of persuasion with men and animals. He was probably the first renowned horse whisperer, his skill so unusual that no less than Henry Clay, a fellow Kentuckian, provided him with a letter to proffer touting his ability. “Such is the extraordinary effect of his system in the management of the horse, that he will, in a very short time, render the wildest animal gentle and docile, insomuch that he will subject it to his easy control and direction,” Clay wrote. But a sheriff in Vincennes, Indiana, from whose jail Offutt miraculously escaped in 1834, described him as “very talkative and wishes to pass for a gentleman.”

Offutt had plied the Mississippi to New Orleans himself and had the notion that he could operate a thriving flatboat trade. He confessed to Hanks, Lincoln, and Johnston that all he lacked was a flatboat. For six weeks, they built one, eighty feet long. Lincoln passed the time playing cards and visiting a magic show in Sangamon Town, his introduction to the theater that would become his lifelong obsession. When the magician asked for his hat as a prop for cooking eggs, Lincoln initially hesitated. “The reason why I didn’t give you my hat before was out of respect to your eggs, not care for my hat,” he said. Caleb Carman, who met Lincoln as he built the flatboat and would know him later at New Salem, originally thought from his ragged, “very odd” appearance that he was a “Green horn,” but changed his mind as soon as Lincoln spoke. “He was funny, jokey, humorous, full of yarns, stories . . . he was frequently quoting poetry, reciting prose like orations. . . . He was a good reader rather than a ‘much reader’ as the Indian would say: what he read he read thoroughly and well and never forgot it.” Lincoln also “talked about politics considerable. He seemed to have the run of politics very well. He was a John Q. Adams man and went his length on that side of politics. He was opposed to slavery and said he thought it a curse to the Land.”
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